

Dourado, Caroline Berlese Mello (2023) *Tackling educational* inequity through collaborative approaches: exploring empirical cases and reflecting on some insights for the Brazilian reality. [MSc]

https://dissertations.gla.ac.uk/id/eprint/571/

Copyright © 2023 The Author

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author(s)

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author(s)

The content must not be shared, changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, institution and date must be given

Deposited: 12 December 2023

Enlighten Dissertations

https://dissertations.gla.ac.uk/

research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk

TACKLING EDUCATIONAL INEQUITY THROUGH COLLABORATIVE APPROACHES: EXPLORING EMPIRICAL CASES AND REFLECTING ON SOME INSIGHTS FOR THE BRAZILIAN REALITY

GUID: xxxxxxxx

Dissertation submitted in part fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Education, Public Policy, and Equity

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To my family, especially my parents and sisters, who have always supported me with much love, and incentivised me to pursue my dreams.

To the Foreign and Commonwealth Office, through the Chevening Awards, that with its commitment to education believed, and trusted me as a Scholar, and allowed me to take this master's degree.

To my dissertation supervisor, Dr. Oscar Valiente, that guided me with respect, openness, patience, and assertive feedback. And to all my teachers and classmates at the University of Glasgow, who made it such a wonderful journey.

To all educators and professionals that crossed my trajectory so far, from whom I could learn and share: you made it possible for me to be here today.

To the researchers on collaborative approaches that have been trying to put more light on this theme for improving education around the world.

To the passionate educators and practitioners in Brazil that believe in education as the most powerful tool to change futures and promote social justice.

ABSTRACT

Traditional reforms in education have not been contributing to better quality and equity. In this scenario, collaborative approaches have emerged as alternative paths for educational improvement. There is evidence showing that cooperation and sharing of knowledge and resources can enhance the outcomes for students from disadvantaged backgrounds in a sustainable way. This study aims to answer whether these collaborative approaches can effectively contribute to a more equitable educational system, and what are the conditions and barriers when implementing it. Through a systematic literature review methodology, twenty empirical cases of educational systems that applied collaborative approaches are analysed. The findings indicated positive outcomes in terms of equity in education through collaborative approaches. The implementation of these approaches requires conditions related to school culture, the goal-setting process, institutional capacity, and context-based initiatives. Barriers that might be faced are associated with a lack of resources, power imbalances, resistances, and deficit mindsets, among others. Recommendations to reduce the opportunity and achievement gap in Brazilian education are made in three major areas: policy, research, and practice. The conclusion reinforces the importance of policymakers, politicians, researchers, and practitioners giving more attention to collaborative approaches in education in Brazil.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION	6
CHAPTER 2 – LITERATURE REVIEW	9
2.1. Educational inequities	9
2.2. Educational system improvement	11
2.3. Collaborative approaches in education	14
2.4. Conclusion	18
CHAPTER 3 - METHODOLOGY	20
3.1. Research paradigm	20
3.2. The methodology	21
3.2.1. Defining studies	22
3.2.2. Search strategy	23
3.2.3. Screening studies	24
3.2.4. In-depth review	24
3.3. Ethical considerations	25
3.4. Limitations of Study	26
CHAPTER 4 - PROMOTING EQUITY IN EDUCATION VIA COLLABORATION	27
4.1. Sample characterisation	27
4.2. Findings	29
4.2.1. The Strategic Education Research Partnership	29
4.2.2. Design-Based Implementation Research	32
4.2.3. Improvement Science in Networked Improvement Communities	34
4.2.4. Community-Based Design Research	36
4.3. Discussion	39
CHAPTER 5 – POLICY, PRACTICE, AND RESEARCH RECOMMENDATIONS TO BRAZIL	44
CHAPTER 6 - CONCLUSION	48
References	50
Appendix 1 - Systematic Literature Review GRID	58

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1: THE FOUR TYPES OF COLLABORATIVE APPROACHES	15
TABLE 2: NUMBERS FROM THE SEARCH STRATEGY	23
TABLE 3: COLLABORATIVE APPROACH X EMPIRICAL CASES	29
TABLE 4: SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS FOR BRAZILIAN EDUCATION	47

CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION

Data show that both the decline in intergenerational mobility and the growth in economic inequality have been happening, with the increase of the gap between the wealthy and poor people. These phenomena strengthen the formation of highly inequitable societies, leading to alienation, mistrust, and unfairness, which might destroy social cohesion (Stiglitz, 2013). Inequalities in education are associated with that. They are one of the most lasting problems nowadays and are characterised by the fact that people from the most privileged realities, which inherit their socioeconomic position from previous generations, have access to better opportunities (Codiroli Mcmaster and Cook, 2019).

The huge opportunity and achievement gap existent in educational systems (Eizadirad et al., 2022) are related to processes of symbolic inclusion but material exclusion (Ishimaru, 2018), where even with discourses of inclusiveness, schools are still reproducing the inequalities present in society (Storz, 2008). However, students' outcomes in education should not be defined by their race, gender, origin, and/or disability (Berg and Gleason, 2018). All these aspects must be considered in any educational reform to effectively close the achievement and opportunity gap (Clark et al., 2016), otherwise, they will continue to negatively influence the way students in marginalised groups experience schools (Howard, 2019).

In the last decades, multiple educational reforms have been implemented in different countries. Despite so many reforms, so minor change was identified (Fullan, 2006). According to Apple (2004), these reforms involved accountability mechanisms, such as testing and external supervision, competition, and imposing curricula, which indicated a mistrust in practitioners. The emphasis was on top-down policies, a one-size-fits-all strategy (Peurach and Glazer, 2011), and the 'what works' approach (Ainscow, 2020, p.1). These strategies are not context-based and are unlikely to be appropriate for the reality of practice (Bryk et al., 2015, as cited in Lenhoff et al., 2022). Furthermore, it was reported that while these reforms should be helping the most disadvantaged students, they were having a negative impact on them (Apple, 2004). This unfavourable scenario has contributed to rethinking the paths for equitable school transformation.

The Fourth Way is a recent perspective on how educational systems should resemble. It is based on professional development, institutional capacity building (Elmore, 2016), the establishment of partnerships among diverse stakeholders (Hargreaves and Shirley, 2009), and teachers' qualification by "learning continuously through networks, from evidence, and from each other" (Hargreaves and Shirley, 2009, p.107). This approach has been instigating the pursuit of school improvement through alternative ways, such as collaborative improvement.

Underpinned by the idea that "educational change is technically simple but socially complex" (Ainscow et al., 2019, p.4), collaborative improvement approaches facilitate the development of common understandings of problems and allow structures where different actors (e.g., districts, community, and researchers) can work as partners to fix them, on the same direction (Lenhoff et al., 2022). Evidence shows that collaboration has positive impacts in terms of equitable educational opportunities, with improvements in students' achievements, socioemotional abilities, and behaviours (Griffiths et al., 2020). Although challenges in educational change might be associated with resistance and bad intentions of stakeholders, the greater barriers are regarding planning and coordinating such a complex and multilevel social process (Fullan, 2007).

In this scenario, the relevant research question that arises is whether these collaborative approaches can effectively contribute to a more equitable educational system, and what are the conditions and barriers when implementing it. On the one hand, this alternative approach does not seem to be a priority topic for most academics and policymakers, either because it is a long-term initiative or because it requires strong relationship-building. On the other hand, there is evidence showing that cooperation and sharing of knowledge and resources can improve the outcomes for students from disadvantaged backgrounds in a sustainable way. This study aims to address the research question to contribute to increasing the literature available about the relationship between equity in education and collaborative approaches, allowing more evidence to subsidise the decision-making process when planning an alternative educational reform.

To do that, this dissertation is organised as follows: first, a literature review is presented addressing the topics of educational inequities, educational system

improvement, and collaborative approaches in education. Second, the systematic literature review methodology used to conduct this study is explained with a focus on its design, limitations, and ethical considerations. Third, the findings of the systematic literature review are introduced in three parts: the sample characterisation summarising the contexts of the twenty empirical cases analysed, the findings producing comparative views of the collaborative approaches, their conditions and barriers for implementation, and their equity outcomes, and a final discussion that highlights and reflects on the principal aspects and lessons identified through the systematic literature review process. After, an association between the findings and the Brazilian reality is made, bringing up some policy, research, and practice recommendations. Lastly, the conclusions are reported stating the importance of policymakers, politicians, researchers, and practitioners giving more attention to collaborative approaches in Brazilian education, and a few suggestions for further research are mentioned.

CHAPTER 2 - LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter presents a literature review of the principal concepts associated with this dissertation topic, giving the basis to understand the following discussion. First, it better analyses what educational inequities are; then, it explains the ways for pursuing educational system improvement; after, the collaborative approaches in education are presented; lastly, some conclusions are drawn.

2.1. Educational inequities

Educational inequity can be understood as the reproduction, by schools, of inequalities present in society, such as social class, gender, disabilities, geographical origin, and race (Storz, 2008). This phenomenon happens because of the diverse allocation of opportunities, financial and human resources, pedagogical practices, school processes and routines, and curriculum content covered (Storz, 2008). Other drivers of these inequalities, which are not directly associated with the educational field, are access to adequate housing and nutrition and the prevailing institutional biases regarding society (Easterbrook and Hadden, 2021). These disparities prevent underprivileged groups to access high-quality education and impact their "rights to access knowledge, to think critically, and to participate in democratic societies under the same conditions as other groups" (Lichand et al., 2022, p.1). Consequently, students from disadvantaged realities have more challenges and fewer chances of achieving success in school and greater outcomes in the future (Storz, 2008), undermining individuals' potential (Easterbrook and Hadden, 2021).

According to Arkhipenka et al. (2018), educational equity is associated with inclusion and fairness. The first refers to all students achieving a minimum set of skills. The latter to the fact that students' characteristics and background cannot determine their opportunities and outcomes. For Cameron et al. (2018), it can be both equality of opportunity, where everyone should access the same opportunities to succeed regardless of background characteristics (e.g., wealth, location, gender, or race), and equality of condition, with an equal and universal distribution of educational inputs for all. Omoeva et al. (2021) also defend the idea of adequate conditions available for achieving equity in education, those associated with instructional materials and environment, school physical infrastructure, and qualified teachers. In contrast, the Coleman Report, which focused on understanding equity in students' achievement,

identified that the most important influence is families and that school resources do not really matter to improve equity (Hanushek, 2016). Lastly, the Capabilities theory, of Sen Amartya, values the heterogeneity among students in terms of abilities, difficulties, learning process, and talents, for example. It advocates that real equity and well-being can only be achieved by offering diversified treatment to distinct needs and interests through changes in a narrow curriculum, restricted pedagogy styles, limited assessment types, and teachers' training (Unterhalter, 2009).

This study is underpinned by the understanding that equity is beyond equality or impartiality ideas, so governments must distribute inputs, opportunities, outcomes, and treatments unequally, to compensate for disadvantages faced by underrepresented groups. It is also important to point out that a minimum of conditions in terms of schools' infrastructure and students' skills should be established, but equity should not be reduced to that. For analysis purposes, in Chapter 4 two concepts associated with equity in education are used: the opportunity gap and the achievement gap (Eizadirad et al., 2022). The first one consists of the processes involved in the educational sector, such as the existing opportunities for students (e.g., social and cultural capital, access to good education, and access to government support policies), the conditions available in each school (e.g., infrastructure, teachers' qualification, and accessibility), and the application of the capabilities theory (e.g., personalised treatment, pedagogical practices, and curriculum). The last one can be seen as the results reached because of the processes mentioned above and is represented by students' achievements, such as conclusion and dropout rates, assessment scores, access to higher education, and placement in good jobs.

Educational inequities represent long-term challenges but require immediate action. One of them is increasing representativity in power positions, so minority groups can amplify their perspectives and see themselves achieving anything. Another one is to stop reproducing negative stereotypes about minority groups, as they were inferior or less capable of doing remarkable things (Easterbrook and Hadden, 2021). Reducing the gap between high and low-income students when accessing better educational opportunities and outcomes (Lichand et al., 2022) is also another mechanism to decrease these inequalities.

When pursuing educational system improvement, equity must be central, where fairness is a concern, all students have equal importance (UNESCO, 2017), and the learner is the focus of the actions and decisions taken (Chapman and Fullan, 2007). It is not possible to talk about quality in education without having equity, otherwise, the quality will be just a privilege of a few students. In this sense, keeping the available knowledge and resources in only some schools is not acceptable. Strengthening social capital is a fundamental aspect to promote equity in education (Ainscow, 2016). The variation among schools can be reduced through partnerships and collaboration, allowing them "to share resources, ideas, and expertise, and exercise collective responsibility for student success" (Ainscow, 2016, p.7). Additionally, as mentioned previously, equitable outcomes for students rely not only on inside-school aspects (e.g., teachers' practices) but also outside (e.g., poverty and family involvement), so the solutions need to be built through collaborative approaches within, between, and beyond schools (Ainscow, 2016).

Equity in education requires engagement not only with distinct levels in the educational system but also with other sectors, such as health, child and youth protection services, and social welfare (UNESCO, 2017). A more decentralised management structure has shown better results regarding equitable education, which relies less on top-down policies and more on context-driven solutions (UNESCO, 2017) and social capital. Evidence indicates that school-to-school collaboration can respond in a more adequate way to diversity among students, especially those more marginalised, through the reduction of polarisation between schools and the new perspectives teachers gain with the exchanges of practices (UNESCO, 2017). To achieve a more just society, authenticity, disruption, honesty, competence, and equity are needed (Castagno, 2019), characteristics that are much more associated with collaborative approaches than the traditional ones used for implementing educational reforms.

2.2. Educational system improvement

The 21st century is characterised as fast, flexible, and vulnerable, and the old ways of implementing educational change are not suitable anymore (Hargreaves and Shirley, 2009). According to Hargreaves and Shirley (2009), there are three old ways of thinking about education and nowadays we are going in the direction of a fourth way. The first way refers to professional freedom and innovation but with a lack of

consistency. The second way is the one of educational standardisation and market competition with no autonomy for professionals. The third way looks for balancing market and state, and autonomy and accountability, with a focus on targets, testing, and using data. So far, these three ways have not allowed deeper transformations in education quality and equity, then a fourth way has been claimed. The fourth way consists of public spirit, transparency, democracy, inspiration, and sustainability (Hargreaves and Shirley, 2009).

Currently, the most common strategy for improving the educational system is replicating, on a large-scale, policies and projects considered successful in some regions, where the policymakers design and the practitioners implement them. Due to its replication and prescription characteristics, the actual system reforms are "reduced to bullet points rather than contextualized to a specific country" (Louis, 2019, ix) and value research evidence over teachers' and headteachers' expertise (Ainscow, 2020). The implementation of these "what works" and top-down policies usually fails because of some reasons. First, research is just able to present what worked, which does not mean it will work again and somewhere else. Second, educational practice is much more than only applying specific techniques. Third, the strict emphasis on evidence-based can limit the chances to use participative tools in decision-making. In this scenario, the exclusive focus on "what works" is likely to not be effective (Biesta, 2007).

Another explanation for the failure of these types of policies is that since the practitioners are not involved in the design process, they receive the proposals "as distractions from their 'real work,' and therefore interpret them to fit their need" (Weatherly and Lipsky, 1977, as cited in Louis, 2019, xi). Successful implementation relies on the willingness and capacity of frontline professionals, which commonly have problematic and mistrustful relations with the policymakers (Rinehart Kathawalla and Mehta, 2022). These frontline workers in public service are also known as street-level bureaucrats (e.g., social workers and educators). They are at the bottom of organizational hierarchies, interact with customers, have an expressive margin of discretion, and are not included in the decision-making process about policy (Zacka, 2017). However, it is not possible to implement public policy without them and they play a crucial role in shaping policies while they carry them out (Zacka, 2017).

Education reforms nowadays have been promoting division between people through intense competition among schools, instead of connecting them. Consequently, they have not been able to achieve the intended aims. The adoption of a collaborative approach is an alternative to this traditional way of doing educational reforms. It "sought to avoid the trap of attempting to identify a 'magic bullet,' offer predetermined solutions, and apply a one size fits all philosophy" (Chapman et al., 2016, p.184) and instead uses frameworks that allow more autonomy and participation for change (Lowden et al., 2021). This approach understands the complexity of social relationships in education and considers teachers professionals with valuable knowledge who must participate actively in the improvement process. It is based on the idea that transferring knowledge from one field to education or from one reality to another might not be suitable and it is needed to engage different stakeholders to collaborate in partnerships with communities, families, and local authorities, playing "a more empowered role in tackling educational inequity" (Lowden et al., 2021, p.92).

The collaborative approaches focus on democracy and professionalism theories of change rather than on bureaucracy and market ones and it had been identified as a positive characteristic of educational systems that improved their quality and equity (Ainscow, 2016). It is underpinned by three major features: context-based, capacity-building, and partnership among many stakeholders. The context-based is related to the flexibility of adapting solutions to local realities, "being contextually sensitive" (Ainscow et al., 2019, p.3). The policymakers must allow the practitioners to decide on the details of the implementation without central regulation (Ainscow, 2020). Capacity building is associated with "deep instructional practice," and strategies for 'raising the bar and closing the gap' in student achievement" (Fullan, 2009, p.110). The partnership among many stakeholders starts from the premise that education is "relational rather than procedural" (Louis, 2019, xii), the expertise within the system is valuable (Ainscow, 2019), and the non-school factors (e.g., poverty and parent education) also must be considered (Fullan, 2009).

This approach recognises the education improvement process as chaotic and messy instead of straight (Ainscow et al., 2019) since "education systems are 'arenas of conflict' rather than machines" (Reimers and McGinn, 1997, as cited in Ainscow et al., 2019, p.4). The essence of education consists of connecting and allowing joint work among people with diverse backgrounds, expertise, and mindsets. Given that

"implementation is something you do when you already know what to do and learning is something you do when you don't yet know what to do" (Elmore, 2016, p.531) and that the stakeholders involved in the education process are unlikely to know the answers to the challenges faced when they work in isolation, the best and most sustainable way to improve educational systems seems to be through collaboration, taking advantage of the plural expertise within the system, and being more aligned with the premisses of the fourth way of educational change.

2.3. Collaborative approaches in education

The basis of the collaborative approaches in education is the understanding that schools are systems and not isolated units that must work in an integrated way and have collective responsibility for every student (Hargreaves and Shirley, 2009). It aims to establish strong relationships between the different actors and levels involved directly or indirectly in the education process, such as national and local government, school staff, school community, NGOs (non-governmental organizations), universities, the private sector, and other public agencies beyond education (Ainscow et al., 2019). This is a key point not only to implement but also to maintain the improvements in a sustainable way, especially in schools that "serve learners from disadvantaged and minority backgrounds" (Ainscow et al., 2019, p.1).

When talking about collaborative approaches in education, there are some central characteristics to be aware of. Firstly, it is associated with intersections between policy, research, and practice, using evidence and enquiry. The use of diverse evidence contributes to developments because it helps with reflections on practice and the replacement of existing ways of working that might not be effective (Ainscow, 2016). The researchers value the "knowledge teachers acquire in their own classrooms" (Ainscow et al., 2019, p.156), and they are "engaged researchers instead of mere spectators" (Ainscow et al., 2019, p.5) who help to inform the decision-making process with research knowledge. Secondly, it is based on the idea of moving knowledge around (Chapman, 2019) through the establishment of partnerships among diverse stakeholders, using a receptive approach to listening and empowering people, allowing spaces for sharing expertise, and creating a mutual understanding about a small number of priority problems (Chapman, 2019). Thirdly, it focuses on a specific context or reality, is flexible, and relies on elevated levels of social cohesion. "In

systems where regulation is low but social cohesion is high, an egalitarian culture tends to be the norm. [...] Self-improving organisations work laterally, [...] collaborating with each other in networks to support joint improvement" (Chapman, 2019, p.557).

There are eight principles that underpin collaborative improvement approaches (Penuel et al., 2020). They include the support to stakeholders' work through the partnership in research, the definition of the roles of each partner according to their expertise, the problem as being central and relevant for the actors involved, the focus on a specific context, the capacity to offer concrete value to participants and/or organizations, the analysis of the gap between what was intended and what was achieved through the collaborative initiatives, the establishment of plans to understand the problem, and to design and test solutions, and the creation of value for others out of the partnership. In summary, the collaborative approaches are associated with having a collaborative nature at its core, having a strong focus on problems, using design, testing, and evaluation to solve problems, and stating its research commitments (Penuel et al., 2020).

Penuel et al. (2020) presented four types of collaborative approaches. All of them follow the eight principles introduced previously but might differ in some features and supportive methodologies used. Table 1 summarises these four approaches.

Table 1: the four types of collaborative approaches

Approach name	Key features	
The Strategic Education Research Partnership	 Joint efforts of policymakers, researchers, and practitioners for achieving effective, and outstanding work in school districts. Build and test ideas to complex problems in schools. An organization to work as a backbone for the network. 	
Design-Based Implementation Research	 Try to solve existent problems through diverse perspectives and expertise. Committed to iterative process. Develop knowledge, and practical tools through systematic enquiry. Focused on capacity development to enable sustainable changes. 	

Improvement Science in Networked Improvement Communities	 Based on a systematic enquiry that defines a persistent problem, investigate what is behind the reproduction of the problem, establishes an aim with progress measurements, and creates a framework for trying solutions. A network is likely to be a powerful tool to work over common problems and test solutions.
Community-Based Design Research	 Collaborative design and enquiry. Seeks to democratize the process of solving complex problems including usually excluded stakeholders, such as youth and their families. Focus on expanding participation in design, combating historical inequities, and changing institutional relationships.

Source: elaborated by the author based on Penuel et al. (2020).

To implement a collaborative approach some supportive methods can be used. Some examples are collaborative enquiry, network learning approaches, joint practice development, collaborative problem-solving methods, and research-practice partnerships, among others. Collaborative enquiry consists of cycles of enquiries in groups of professionals to develop knowledge and practice, that can be used within, between, and beyond schools and prevent "individuals or groups from taking an inward or myopic viewpoint" (Chapman et al., 2016, p.181). Network learning approaches allow professionals to work horizontally and vertically with different areas and levels of education to get the latest ideas and perspectives (Chapman and Fullan, 2007). Joint practice development "is conceptualised as the process of learning new ways of working through mutual engagement that opens up and shares practices with others" (Fielding et al., 2005, as cited in Madrid Miranda and Chapman, 2021, p.6). Collaborative problem-solving methods support the analysis of the problem's cause and the "co-construction of meaning from evidence for a common understanding among partnership members" (Lenhoff et al., 2022, p.1495). And research-practice partnerships are the collaborative work between researchers and practitioners to define problems and look for solutions to improve schools and use evidence to inform decision (Coburn and Penuel, 2016).

It is worth highlighting several benefits of using collaborative approaches in education. One is the focus on professional development. The quality of a teacher is one of the most crucial elements to improve students' attainment and contribute to school improvement (Muijs et al., 2004). According to Barber and Mourshed (2007), in three years, the performance of students can differ by more than 50 percentile points depending on the quality of their teachers. In this sense, the collaborative approach is a valuable tool to develop teachers' abilities, through methodologies that allow them to be aware of the weaknesses of their practices and mindsets and share good practices with their peers (Barber and Mourshed, 2007). Another benefit is the sustainable change this approach can promote through established collective ownership and professional development. The collective ownership and commitment of policy and practice contribute to a good school climate, are based on a genuine culture of collaboration, and recognise that "structures [by itself] cannot deliver desired outcomes" (Bell and Donaldson, 2021, p.168). A last benefit is the articulation amongst various levels of stakeholders. According to Chapman (2019), these approaches can be applied within schools (e.g., teaching and learning, professional development, use of data to inform), between schools (e.g., support to overcome challenges, reduce competition), and beyond schools (e.g., partnership with other public agencies to tackle poverty and have an integrated approach). It "has enormous potential for fostering system-wide improvement, particularly in the most challenging contexts" (Ainscow and West, 2006; Chapman et al., 2007, as cited in Chapman and Fullan, 2007, p.207) and can help to diminish the dispute in the education system "by both transferring existing knowledge, generating context-specific 'new' knowledge, and contributing to capacity building" (Chapman and Fullan, 2007, p.207).

On the other side, it is important to have in mind that the theory usually is not perfectly translated into practice. There are pitfalls that might prevent the collaborative approaches to achieve their full potential. For instance, it will not be a democratic approach if it does not involve all the stakeholders, such as students and parents as well. Also, even when the participation of diverse stakeholders is happening, it might not be contributing to changing the existing unequal dynamics of power and promoting real parity in terms of who takes the decisions. In this sense, it is necessary to be careful when designing the implementation of the collaborative approach and to consider the need to tackle a deficit mindset - especially in the government - to allow genuine co-creation of policies.

2.4. Conclusion

Educational inequities are persistent both because of institutional and systemic characteristics and Capitalism legitimisation. On the one hand, Capitalism is based on making profits through exploitation and inequality, then educational systems serve capitalist production and reproduction (Hill et al., 2012) by perpetuating social relationships and power structures, and applying a meritocratic perspective, which reinforces and legitimate diverse types of inequities, such as class, race, and gender (Swartz, 2003). On the other hand, the features of educational systems impact directly their levels of inequity (Zapfe and Gross, 2021). For instance, school segregation, levels of standardisation, teachers' training, and institutional biases are a few examples of the characteristics that will determine educational inequities.

Although evidence indicates that collaboration among schools is more likely to reduce educational inequities, responding better to the challenges faced by the most marginalised students, the prevailing strategies used for educational improvement nowadays are still prescriptive and top-down policies, based on the "what works" approach. It goes in the opposite direction of the democratic aspect of education, which is based on connecting people to help each other, taking their expertise and perspective into account, and where there is no winner or loser. Thus, the collaborative approaches emerge as a "new" way of thinking about doing education, shifting from a competition to a collaborative mindset.

The engagement with collaborative approaches allows shared spaces among professionals that help create trust and build better relationships, which leads to reflecting on current practices and ideas by school leaders and teachers (Ainscow et al., 2019). Researchers are seen as "critical" partners of school and district staff, challenging assumptions, and using evidence to inform the decision-making process, through local perspectives (Lenhoff et al., 2022), since schools are in a specific region with its own features "instead of a vacuum" (Kerr and West, 2010, as cited in Chapman et al., 2016).

The policies should not be universal but rather fit specific realities using diverse evidence and multiple stakeholders' perspectives (Ainscow, 2016). Whereas practitioners are not only participants in this process but are the actors that shape the local policy process, the context-based feature allows the flexibility for them to choose

the best ways to deal with their local context challenges with the recognition of policymakers and the support of researchers (Hadfield and Ainscow, 2018).

Collaborative approaches have more synergies with the educational field and can contribute to the improvement of educational systems. Its potential in reducing education inequities, as presented in evidence, is also positive. However, the literature available has a gap in terms of presenting empirical cases of educational systems that were able to tackle educational inequities through collaborative approaches. In this sense, this study will focus on a systematic literature review to answer two questions: can collaborative approaches effectively contribute to a more equitable educational system? What are the conditions needed and the challenges to overcome?

CHAPTER 3 - METHODOLOGY

This study is a systematic literature review that aims to collect and analyse evidence to answer two research questions:

RQ1. Is it possible to achieve a more equitable educational system through collaborative approaches?

RQ2. If so, what is needed and what challenges are involved in the implementation process?

The focus is to explore the questions from theoretical and empirical perspectives, presenting the findings from real cases of educational systems implementing collaborative approaches. The literature search showed that evidence about these approaches is becoming more popular and getting more relevant in the academic field, however, it is still existing only a little research that explores empirical cases of implementing collaborative approaches in basic education and its contribution to promoting equity. The systematic literature review results are organised into three main sections: (1) the sample characterisation, (2) the findings (presenting each approach, their conditions, barriers, and the equity outcomes identified), and (3) a discussion highlighting the main aspects and the key lessons. After, a reflection is made about the implementation of collaborative approaches in Brazilian reality. In this chapter, the research paradigm is introduced, the methodology used to realise this review is explained, the ethical considerations are presented, and the methodological limitations are discussed.

3.1. Research paradigm

A research paradigm is understood as a way of seeing the world, guiding thinking and action. It is composed of ontology and epistemology concepts (Chilisa and Kawulich, 2012). The former is associated with the nature of reality (e.g., whether there are one or multiple realities, and if it is objective or socially constructed). The latter is based on the nature of knowledge and its relationship with the researcher (Mertens, 2019). In the field of education and psychology, there are four major research paradigms: constructivism, post-positivism, transformative, and pragmatic (Mertens, 2019, p.8).

This study is underpinned by the Transformative paradigm (or so-called Critical Theory). It means that marginalised groups and the inequities associated with them (e.g., race, gender, socioeconomic class, disability, region, sexual orientation) have vital importance here, where changing asymmetric power relationships is key for social transformation (Mertens, 2019). The ontological beliefs comprehend that there are many versions of reality, and they are based on social positioning, with an awareness of privileged versions and their consequences to society (Mertens, 2019). Thus, it is necessary to examine how what is considered real is contributing to "perpetuating oppressive social structures and policies" (Mertens, 2019, p.32). The epistemological beliefs are related to interactive relationships between researchers and participants, where issues of trust and power are central, and knowledge is situated in terms of social and historical perspectives (Chilisa and Kawulich, 2012).

When it comes to the transformative paradigm, the methodologies used to generate knowledge in research should be focused on including voices that are usually silenced, addressing existing power inequities in the "planning, implementation, and reporting of the research" (Mertens, 2019, p.33), and enabling the results to be connected to social action and change. Although the methodology applied in this dissertation does not explicitly implement these aspects, since it is a systematic literature review, the papers selected for analysis consider these features in their processes and collaborative approaches have these elements in their core, which justifies the use of this research paradigm.

3.2. The methodology

A systematic literature review seeks to put together and summarise in only one source the evidence that meets established criteria to answer specific research questions, and so, support the decision-making process with evidence (Paré and Kitsiou, 2017). According to Tranfield et al. (2003), the systematic literature review can be conducted through three main stages: (1) planning the review (identifying its need, its aims, and the criteria to select the studies), (2) conducting the review (selecting the studies, data collection and synthesis), and (3) reporting and dissemination (discussion, recommendations, and putting evidence into practice).

Using explicit methods reduces bias and increases reliability by reviewing various research evidence. A summary of the findings in an accessible way helps practitioners

and policymakers in decision-making since research evidence usually can be numerous, hard to locate and interpret, and would take the limited time they have to collect and analyse it (EPPI Center, 2019). A critical engagement with research is made to construe what was found and not only to describe it, and some recommendations are suggested to improve policy, practice, and research (Hart, 2019). This review has a qualitative characteristic and focuses on content analysis (Paré and Kitsiou, 2017). It is based on the following four supportive methods, according to Totterdell et al. (2004): defining studies, search strategy, screening studies, and in-depth review.

3.2.1. Defining studies

To define which studies would be part of this review, this first method is based on explicit criteria that allow to map, identify, select, and choose eligible studies (Paré and Kitsiou, 2017). The criteria established were the following:

- a. To have been published in the last 10 years (from 2013). The reasons behind this decision are both because the most recent papers have more up-to-date information in a field that has been developed and received more attention in the last years and because around 70% of the studies found were published as from 2013.
- b. To be peer-reviewed if journal articles. This criterion is relevant because peer-review practice helps ensure the research has validation and high quality, is significant, original, and is suitable for being published (Kelly et al., 2014).
- c. To show relevance to the research question, with both theoretical and empirical perspectives. Since this study aims to answer the research question, the cases selected must be aligned with that. Just theory is not enough because its purpose is to understand the practical implications and impacts of the implementation as well.
- d. To focus on basic education (primary and secondary) only. There are many papers about this theme in other fields, such as health, and technology. Also, there are those who focus on higher education. This dissertation seeks to comprehend specifically how to implement collaborative approaches in basic education because it is a mandatory stage in Brazil, where the basis for future outcomes is created.

e. To be written in the English language, but with no limitation in terms of countries. This decision was made because around 97% of the publications found were in English. Beyond that, choosing one language helps to optimise and accelerate the process, instead of having more than one.

3.2.2. Search strategy

The information needed for this study is about empirical educational cases of collaborative approaches implementation, its impacts in terms of equity in education, and the challenges and conditions for implementing it. Then the keywords used in the search strategy were *education, inequity, collaborative, gap, equity, system, implementation, real, and case.* The databases consulted were EBSCOhost (British Education Index, ERIC, Teacher Reference Center, and Professional Development Collection), ProQuest Academic, and the University of Glasgow Library. The main resources utilised were journal articles, books, and theses, with additional citation searching (bibliography of these resources for further search), and recommendations of references from experts. Lastly, in terms of data management, it was organised through the platform Endnote and an Excel sheet.

The first search did not include the words *system, case, implementation*, and *real.* It found 1,210 papers on EBSCOhost, 1,559 on ProQuest Academic, and 1,662 on the University of Glasgow Library. After including these words and applying the filters (publications from 2013, peer-reviewed papers, only the school sector, and basic education stage only), the numbers decreased considerably, with 214 papers on EBSCOhost, 90 papers on ProQuest Academic, and 591 on the University of Glasgow Library. Through the screening process, which is described in the next section, the papers were chosen for the in-depth review. Table 2 summarises the final numbers found through the search strategy presented and how many studies were included in this review.

Table 2: Numbers from the search strategy

Database	Date	Keywords	Number of hits	Number included in the review
EBSCOhost	07/06/2023	educat* N4 (inequ* OR gap OR equ*) + (search with AND) collabor* + (search with AND) system* + (search	214	13

		with AND) case* / real* / implement*		
ProQuest Academic	07/06/2023	educat* N/4 (inequ* OR gap OR equ*) + (search with AND) collabor* + (search with AND) system* + (search with AND) case* / real* / implement*	90	4
University of Glasgow Library	07/06/2023	educat* N4 (inequ* OR gap OR equ*) + (search with AND) collabor* + (search with AND) system* + (search with AND) case*	591	3

Source: elaborated by the author (2023).

3.2.3. Screening studies

After the preliminary results (the number of hits presented in Table 2), the scoping of the studies was narrowed based on the abstracts and research titles, since it gives a concise synthesis of the purposes and findings of a paper and allows deciding if it should be read in full (Hart, 2019). Additionally, the following questions were also used as a guide to check if the studies were relevant to the aims of this dissertation:

- Are the studies exploring empirical cases of implementation in basic education?
- Are the empirical cases about collaborative approaches?
- Does the material focus on equity impacts?

3.2.4. In-depth review

Based on the criteria of section 3.2.1 and on the questions presented in section 3.2.3, twenty (20) studies were selected for the in-depth review. The list that summarises these studies can be found in Appendix 1. It is important to mention that only six (6) studies matched all the criteria established for selection, and fully addressed the research questions. The other fourteen (14) papers presented greater relevance among all other studies related, however, they did not match completely the criteria and/or did not answer entirely the research question. Then some flexibility was made to increase the number of studies analysed, such as including empirical studies outside basic education, and that focus on a specific aspect of the collaborative approach, such as family engagement, instead of having a more systemic perspective.

They consist of empirical cases of different countries like England, Chile, Finland, Canada, the United States, Northern Ireland, and New Zealand, among others. They describe the implementation of different collaborative approaches to improve their educational systems, according to their priority needs. This in-depth review provides recommendations for policy, practice, and research, introduced in Chapter 5.

In the next chapter, the findings from the empirical studies will be organised to answer the questions below:

- Context Summary
 - Why did the empirical cases implement collaborative approaches?
- Collaborative Approaches
 - Which ones were used on the empirical cases?
 - What are their main mechanisms / supportive tools?
 - Was it applied within, between, and/or beyond school?
- Conditions Needed
 - What conditions favour each approach?
 - Do all approaches work in all contexts?
- Barriers Faced
 - What are they?
 - Are they the same for all approaches?
- Equity Issues
 - What are the outcomes found?
 - Is there one approach that contributes more to equity in education?

3.3. Ethical considerations

This systematic literature review is in line with the ethical guidelines of the University of Glasgow on the conduct of research. Since it is entirely based on previously published material, ethical concerns are mostly associated with giving credit to the authors and presenting the sources appropriately (Hulme et al., 2011). Regarding the method of citation, all academic sources used are referenced according to the Harvard style, receiving adequate credit. The literature used was selected from respected databases and up-to-date reports, and it had gone through a peer-review process. There is transparency in terms of the methodology applied, which contributes to the

evaluation of the quality of this review and allows for external scrutiny. Lastly, the critical analysis made over the collected evidence is carried out in a professional manner.

3.4. Limitations of Study

In this study, there are some limitations that were faced. Firstly, the topic of collaborative approaches in education is recent, its implementation is not very much spread among the world, and there is a limited number of publications presenting real cases associated with reducing educational inequity. Secondly, the English language as a criterion for defining the studies led to the fact that most of the empirical cases selected are from developed countries, which have different social, economic, and geographic contexts than Brazil and distinct realities in terms of inequalities. So, if more time were available for this dissertation, it would be relevant to search for papers in Portuguese and Spanish, for example, to get evidence of other realities. Lastly, the Brazilian reality is quite complex, and the discussion made here simplifies it to recommend some future policies. However, it is essential to be aware this is not prescriptive work, and the implementation of these recommendations relies on a deep context analysis combined with a collaborative construction about the most appropriate ways to do that. In a scenario with more time and resources available, this research could have used a longitudinal methodology in the Brazilian context, through the examination of the same individuals over a period, to collect more precise evidence in terms of barriers, conditions, and outcomes of collaborative approaches, since the systematic literature review methodology is limited to what exists and might not be fully useful for specific contexts.

CHAPTER 4 - PROMOTING EQUITY IN EDUCATION VIA COLLABORATION

This chapter presents the results of the systematic literature review to answer if the collaborative approaches can contribute to a more equitable educational system and, if so, how it can be conducted. The chapter is organised into three main topics: the sample characterisation, the findings, and a final discussion.

4.1. Sample characterisation

As explained in the methodology chapter, the sample consists of twenty (20) papers. In terms of countries where the papers are focused, ten of them are about school districts in the United States (e.g., California, Kentucky, Oregon, and New York). Two are empirical studies in England. One focuses on three New Zealand schools (one elementary school and two high schools). One is about educational improvement in Finland. One is in two of the most under-resourced communities in Toronto, Canada. One is in Portugal, through the Childhood Association that works with the Pedagogyin-Participation. One is a case study about Germany. One is focused on Northern Ireland and its religious division in schools (Protestant, Catholic, and integrated schools). One is about Indigenous education in Australia. And the last one is in Chile, a university-school partnership to improve Initial Teacher Education. This geographical distribution of the papers is not random. As can be seen, the countries are mostly developed and located in the northern part of the globe. A few explanations for this might be the English language criteria used to select the empirical cases, the fact that developed countries have overcome basic challenges in their educational systems and are better prepared to pursue improvement through alternative approaches, and due to the different reality in terms of inequalities when compared to countries in development, which contributes to a more propitious environment for engagement and collaboration, especially of school communities, such as families and students. The implications of this biased distribution are that the findings presented here cannot be applied directly to other contexts and careful analysis must be made when planning to use this information, instead of trying to replicate them to realities with distinct levels of inequalities, educational systems characteristics, and economic and development scenarios.

The methodologies used in the twenty empirical cases can be categorised into four main types. The first one is a qualitative study or case study, used by eleven papers,

consisting of interviews, questionnaires, discussions, workshops, data and documents review, surveys, focus groups, and observations. A few of these qualitative studies were reports based on projects performed by the authors. The second one is a literature-based analysis and review, used by four of the papers. The third one, used by three of the empirical cases, is a mixed-methods design, including the analysis of social networks, content analysis, and participatory design research. And the last one is an ethnographic exploratory study, used by two of the papers.

When it comes to the context of these cases, they might differ, but all of them have in common the interest in promoting more equity in education. Some countries face a highly competitive and marketized environment, with low levels of trust, an inequitable culture, and the need for disputing over pupils for resources. There are cases focusing on the pandemic impacts such as the increasing demands for social services, that go beyond the school attributions and exceed the capacity of organisations. Another context highlighted is the disparities and inequalities in students' learning, which are associated with poverty, race, native language, disabilities, and with educational systems rooted in classism, racism, sexism, xenophobia, and their relations. The need to respond to a world based on quick transformations in technology and knowledge is also a context mentioned to be addressed. Some countries are facing demographic changes, such as a growing immigrant population, and an increasing number of English language learners and Latinos. It potentializes the challenge of having a curriculum that suits diverse cohorts of students and overcoming the "mass education" approach, which is underpinned by curricular uniformity and cultural homogeneity. Also, there is one context of years of political violence and the search for reconciliation through schools. Lastly, one of the countries here analysed is considered a model role in the educational field for its decentralised, information-led, collaborative mechanisms, and for not using standardised tests.

The main aims of the empirical cases to implement collaborative approaches were closing the gaps in terms of opportunity and achievement for black, low-income, and Indigenous students, reducing chronic absenteeism, improving teachers' quality, especially the initial training, preparing students to attend higher education and increasing the percentage of students going to that stage, and reducing power inequities between families and schools. To achieve that, the most mentioned ways were through family engagement, a collaboration between district leadership and

parent organisation group, school-university partnerships, cross-sector collaboration, collaborative action research, the setting of common goals, community-based programs, collaborative networks, and shared education. A summary of the sample used in this systematic literature review can be found in Appendix 1.

4.2. Findings

This section discusses the main findings of the Systematic Literature Review. Each of the four collaborative approaches is presented according to the information identified in the empirical cases that used them, contemplating a description and analysis of the conditions needed to implement these approaches, the barriers faced when implementing them, and the educational equity outcomes identified after the implementation. Lastly, a final discussion is made to highlight the key messages learned from the cases.

As presented in Chapter 2, according to Penuel et al. (2020), there are four types of collaborative approaches: the Strategic Education Research Partnership, Design-Based Implementation Research, Improvement Science in Networked Improvement Communities, and Community-Based Design Research. Table 3 presents a summary of how many empirical cases applied each approach. The total sum is twenty-one (21) because one of the cases was identified as using more than one approach. The choice made by the cases about which approach to use seems to be more related to both the aims of the collaborative project and the context of the educational system. In the next sections, each approach will be presented.

Table 3: Collaborative approach x Empirical cases

Collaborative Approach	Number of cases using
The Strategic Education Research Partnership	6 cases
Design-Based Implementation Research	3 cases
Improvement Science in Networked Improvement Communities	5 cases
Community-Based Design Research	7 cases

Source: elaborated by the author (2023).

4.2.1. The Strategic Education Research Partnership

The Strategic Education Research Partnership approach was used in six of the empirical cases. The major focus is supporting problem-solving through the

partnership between schools or districts, universities, and researchers (Meyer et al., 2020). Some partnerships included curriculum development for teachers and college opportunities for students (Gonzalez, 2022). Another very mentioned feature of this approach is its evidence-based focus, which supports the professional development of teachers (Kang and González-Howard, 2022), and increases understanding of the scenario, open conversations, and reflection (Arkhipenka et al., 2018). Its aim is that research becomes part of the way teachers think and act in their practice and in the school culture (Arkhipenka et al., 2018).

One example of a practical case is the use of networks among schools to collaborate in Northern Ireland, where students and teachers went to different schools to share experiences, with the support of the university research team (Gallagher, 2016). This project received specific funding for staff, equipment and other involved costs, and logistical support. It was comprised of joint work among Protestant, Catholic, and Integrated schools and aimed at promoting economic, educational, and reconciliation through collaborative links between schools and run-shared classes. Each school should submit its proposals for collaborative initiatives, which would be supported by the research team, which would review and assess what worked better and help in making the initiative as effective as possible (Gallagher, 2016).

The mechanisms and tools identified when implementing this approach are the creation of an enquiry team composed of different actors of the school that will lead the enquiry process (Meyer et al., 2020), the realisation of workshops for goal setting, problem-solving, sharing experiences, and planning (Meyer et al., 2020), the support of the university research team with evidence, approaches, evaluation, and acting as a critical friend (Arkhipenka et al., 2018), the establishment of principal pairs from different schools (Wilkinson et al., 2017), observations of the school and feedback on meetings (Meyer et al., 2020), the figure of specialist schools that act as the focal point for collaborative networks (Gallagher, 2016), the offer of a Masters' program in Collaborative leadership to teachers that are part of the enquiry group (Gallagher, 2016), and the application of the cycle Plan-Do-Study-Act (PDSA) cycle (Meyer et al., 2020). For all six cases, the approach was used beyond schools since there is the involvement of the university research team as a partner. It was also identified as being used within schools, with the creation of the enquiry team to develop improvement inside (Arkhipenka et al., 2018). And the approach was also present between schools,

represented by cross-school workshops, seminars, principal pairs, and collaborative networks.

The goal-setting feature appears as a particularly important condition for collaboration to work in this approach. It means that it is necessary to set a clear common vision and goals for the partnership (Gonzalez, 2022), with the goals being aligned with the strategies, and justified and communicated to ensure commitment and collective responsibility (Meyer et al., 2020). Having a continuous process of feedback to maintain focus and follow the progress toward the goal through close monitoring is also relevant (Meyer et al., 2020). The school culture should be based on openness to change minds and preconceived ideas (Arkhipenka et al., 2018) and commitment to collaborative problem-solving, while the school routines must ensure efficient meetings based on data (Meyer et al., 2020). For this to be achieved, building trust, respect, and relationships (Kang and González-Howard, 2022), and maintaining regular, sustained, and close contact among partners (Gallagher, 2016) is essential. The availability of funding to support collaborative initiatives (Gallagher, 2016), the definition of roles, and the existence of high-quality teachers and leaders also are mentioned as necessary conditions (Gonzalez, 2022). Lastly, bottom-up decisionmaking, which addresses local challenges (Gallagher, 2016) and is based on 'parity of participation' among stakeholders (Wilkinson et al., 2017), combined with transparent leadership and a diverse faculty (Gonzalez, 2022), creates a more power-balancing context, and favours the implementation of collaborative activities.

The barriers identified during the implementation are associated with the existence of multiple and/or unrealistic goals (Meyer et al., 2020) and difficulty in combining schools' needs and researchers' interests (Kang and González-Howard, 2022). In terms of capacity and resources, the challenges found are the lack of staff capability to achieve the goals (Meyer et al., 2020), the logistical barriers, such as how to reorganise timetables and find time to plan and have effective communication (Gallagher, 2016), the uncertainty of funding for the initiatives or for allowing more time to teachers collaborate (Kang and González-Howard, 2022) and the fact that school funding is associated with students' performance on tests (Kang and González-Howard, 2022). There are also barriers in terms of beliefs and expectations, such as the existence of teachers who do not believe in better students achievement (Meyer et al., 2020) and have low expectations about them (Gonzalez, 2022), a deficit mindset

associated with students (Gonzalez, 2022), and contexts where staff felt their own expertise are unvalued and unrecognised (Meyer et al., 2020). Resistance to being out of their comfort zone and to compulsory initiatives (Meyer et al., 2020), and a context based on a risk-averse culture that avoids controversial or difficult issues (Gallagher, 2016) are other challenging aspects. Barriers associated with external influences and power issues include the focus on standardised tests and rankings, incentivising intense competition and amplifying inequities (Gonzalez, 2022), time pressure dictated by external accountability, with a focus on short-term initiatives and results (Arkhipenka et al., 2018), a dilemma between establishing relationships with schools, and being accountable with the other demands of a researcher (Kang and González-Howard, 2022), and lobbies motivated by personal or social agendas (Gonzalez, 2022). Lastly, projects that rely on individuals in isolation (Gallagher, 2016) and lack of thinking about the longevity of activities (Gallagher, 2016) impact negatively governance and the sustainability of collaborative approaches.

In terms of educational equity outcomes, it was reported that the school environment was improved with fewer disruptions (Meyer et al., 2023), better students' emotional and social well-being (Wilkinson et al., 2017), and changes to schools' practices and cultures (Arkhipenka et al., 2018). Leaders developed awareness about learners as a priority and the need for a more individualised learning process (Meyer et al., 2023). The attendance rates increased during the strategy implementation to address persistent absence (Arkhipenka et al., 2018). Teachers gained more voice, became more proactive, and strengthened their values and professional identity (Arkhipenka et al., 2018). The school community started learning how to deal with diversity in a positive way (Gallagher, 2016). All these represent an improvement in the opportunity gap and led to closing the achievement gap among diverse groups, with better outcomes in reading, mathematics, and writing - sustaining these advances throughout the project -, and with more positive grades, test scores, dropout rates, and completion rates.

4.2.2. Design-Based Implementation Research

The Design-Based Implementation Research approach was the one used in fewer cases, totalizing three. It is associated with professional development, research (Formosinho and Figueiredo, 2014), and collective efficacy (Miranda and Chapman,

2021), with the purpose of innovating and refining practice and building capacity (Miranda and Chapman, 2021). One practical example is the implementation of a context-based program in Portugal, which consisted of periods of action and reflection about the strategies proposed, aiming at building participatory educational teams able to promote quality education for children (Formosinho and Figueiredo, 2014). The program was strongly focused on developing effective pedagogical skills and the capacity to work with diversity across staff. The active involvement of every child in their learning process and the participation of the educational assistants in creating strategies were conditions that contributed to the program's success (Formosinho and Figueiredo, 2014).

The mechanisms reported to support the implementation of this approach are based on building a networked learning system able to address diverse challenges, such as curricula, different school years and stages, pedagogical practices (Miranda and Chapman, 2021), professional mentors, school visits, interviews (Wilkinson et al., 2017), joint practice development, research-informed professional learning, collaborative enquiry, and use of data (Miranda and Chapman, 2021). The approach was identified as being used within, between, and beyond schools, appearing more often within schools (teachers peers and students collaborating) and beyond schools (with external partners, such as universities and schoolteachers).

In terms of conditions that favours the implementation of this approach, the highlight goes to the idea of starting small, like a pilot project, since it helps in shaping and sustaining a culture that deals with risk-taking, focusing primarily on students' outcomes (Miranda and Chapman, 2021), and using local knowledge (Wilkinson et al., 2017). The goal-setting process is associated with a shared identification of the aims, and it can be conducted through the connection among professional development, research, and practice (Formosinho and Figueiredo, 2014). The school culture should allow a caring atmosphere (Miranda and Chapman, 2021) and consider every person as a learner (Formosinho and Figueiredo, 2014). Offering the conditions such as time and money for involvement with collaborative initiatives is essential (Miranda and Chapman, 2021). Lastly, mutual trust, openness to new perspectives of realising things, and the establishment of mutual understanding for better relationships (Miranda and Chapman, 2021) play a significant role in successful collaboration.

When it comes to the barriers faced by the cases, there is a conflict between theoretical (researchers) and practical (teachers) perspectives (Miranda and Chapman, 2021), a lack of investment to develop the staff capacity in diversity aspects (Formosinho and Figueiredo, 2014), and time and effort needed for development and involvement with new initiatives (Wilkinson et al., 2017). Furthermore, a mindset based on automatic actions and behaviours, used to repeat the same conduct (Miranda and Chapman, 2021), disturbs the implementation, as well as resistance to an open classroom for others to watch (Miranda and Chapman, 2021), and the lack of a safe environment for sharing and trust (Miranda and Chapman, 2021). Lastly, uniformity in practices, strong normative control on school management (Formosinho and Figueiredo, 2014), and lack of guarantee of continuity of staff (Wilkinson et al., 2017) are barriers associated with power issues and sustainability.

Through the implementation of this approach, the educational equity outcomes identified for reducing the opportunity gap were teaching improvement, with students' interests as key (Madrid Miranda and Chapman, 2021), a more participatory pedagogy, and a school culture that values humanity and democracy, and cultivates an environment where students feel included, respected, and answered, no matter their individual differences (Formosinho and Figueiredo, 2014). It was reported that these more propitious contexts allowed to decrease the achievement gap in terms of literacy and numeracy skills.

4.2.3. Improvement Science in Networked Improvement Communities

The Improvement Science in Networked Improvement Communities approach was used in five of the empirical cases. It consists of an iterative process of cycles to plan a change, implement it, collect data about the implementation, evaluate the process, and define the next steps (Burns et al., 2019). Through the promotion of facilitated networking among teachers, it aims at supporting teachers to reflect on their practice and identify improvement opportunities (Burns et al., 2019). One empirical example is the creation of a collaboration consortium composed of adult schools and colleges in California (U.S.) with the purpose of implementing a regional plan to qualify adult education and offer better immigrant integration (Watson et al., 2018). This plan was based on an iterative process, professional development for staff, and improved cultural responsiveness, which contributed to the growing educational capacity of the system (Watson et al., 2018).

The main tools for its implementation are the use of evidence, pre, and post-assessment, the establishment of school clusters, goal setting, classroom walk-throughs (Burns et al., 2019), the hiring of support specialists on the chosen problem (Watson et al., 2018), social networks analysis (Kolleck et al., 2019), the work through fishbone activity and driver diagram, the creation of an improvement team, the realisation of an equity audit, and the conduction of empathy interviews with community members to better understand the problem (Nelson, 2022). In terms of in which sphere this approach is more likely to happen, it appears frequently in the three of them: within schools, with the improvement team and iterative cycles (Nelson, 2022), between schools, with the school-to-school collaboration through school clusters (Armstrong et al., 2020); and beyond schools, with the interaction with external partners and the support of organisations to provide services not offered by schools, such as food security, housing support, and public benefits for instance (Watson et al., 2018).

The conditions needed most mentioned by the empirical cases are associated with resources, processes, and funding. It is essential to expand the amount of time available for teacher collaboration, have funding flexibility and financial incentive (Burns et al., 2019), establish a governance structure for collaboration (Armstrong et al., 2020) with a backbone organization (Kolleck et al., 2019), and implement processes that allow improvement, with testing, evaluation, and learning from the failures (Nelson, 2022). The partners should have high identification and high commitment to the goals established (Kolleck et al., 2019). The sense of belonging to the school by educators and the community, and the families' culture and how they deal with their responsibilities also impact the collaborative initiatives implementation (Nelson, 2022). The collaboration must be voluntary (Armstrong et al., 2020). A focus on leadership capacity and quality, which is concerned with relational factors, such as trust and clear communication (Armstrong et al., 2020), and is responsible for team building (Watson et al., 2018), is crucial. Lastly, when looking at the school context, is important to consider if it is urban (which has more geographical proximity to partners for collaboration), if it has a history of collaboration (Armstrong et al., 2020), and if it has a diverse staff team able to not only represent the population they serve but also to support the student's social, academics, physical, and mental health needs (Nelson, 2022).

The barriers to overcome revolve around conflicts in the goal-setting process (Kolleck et al., 2019), the existence of opposing agendas in the partnership (Kolleck et al., 2019), biases that contribute to maintaining systems of privilege (Watson et al., 2018), lack of capacity for implementation, including funding and resources (Armstrong et al., 2020), and resistance to change by status-quo supporters who fear loss of power (Watson et al., 2018). Lastly, some external influences also have a role in making the implementation more challenging. For instance, a marketised policy context, that fosters competition (Armstrong et al., 2020), and student conditions, such as mental health, physical conditions, poverty, housing, and food insecurity (Nelson, 2022).

This approach was reported to contribute to equity in education by decreasing the opportunity gap through professional learning of teachers, which promoted pedagogical intentionality, improved the use of research and evidence in their practice, and led to better support for students of colour and from low-income families (Armstrong et al., 2021). The establishment of a common equity vision within the district, with a focus on immigrant integration and the creation of student services culturally responsive (Burns et al., 2019), and strategies to motivate young people from disadvantaged realities to pursue higher education (Kolleck et al., 2020) also contributed to this improvement. One of the collaborative initiatives resulted in the reduction of absenteeism and the strengthening of retention of underrepresented groups (Nelson, 2022). The impacts reported in terms of reducing the achievement gap were the improvement in students' attainment and academic progress among specific cohorts (Armstrong et al., 2021).

4.2.4. Community-Based Design Research

The last approach, the Community-Based Design Research, was the one used in most of the cases, in a total of seven. It is based on the idea of a network composed of families, schools, community partners, and districts, with the aim to increase communication, shared decision-making, and opportunities for all (Perry and Geller, 2021). It is underpinned by the understanding that reforms are only legitimate if all the actors affected are involved in all the phases (Niemi, 2021), where the historical power imbalances are addressed, and low-income and coloured families are considered experts in a specific context (Ishimaru, 2017). One concrete example is the community school initiative in Canada, which established partnerships with nonprofit, for-profit,

teachers, and families to deliver an accessible math curriculum after school at a subsidised cost, helping the students that need it most and looking to reduce the achievement gap (Eizadirad et al., 2022). A key aspect was the fact that people from the staff had good relationships with the families part of the program. Also, coaches played a relevant role as mentors, contributing to the motivation of students and the connection among classroom skills, sports, and life in the community (Eizadirad et al., 2022).

To implement this approach, the most mentioned mechanisms were conferences and parent workshops (Ishimaru, 2014), an advisory team composed by parents, a family conference, monthly meetings with all the partners, school-based workshops (Ishimaru, 2017), training to address the main needs, use of evidence (Perry and Geller, 2021), a teacher education forum to meet the new challenges (Niemi, 2021), and the creation of a school inquiry group (SIG), which consists of a committee composed by teachers, parents, students, community members, and school administrators to plan and implement the transformation of the school (Ishimaru, 2018). This approach is, in its majority, applied beyond the schools, with the involvement of outside partners (Niemi, 2021), especially parents and families, but also with external support, investment, and a cross-sector collaboration among education, health, community, and other partners (Ishimaru, 2017).

Context-based and power balancing are the most important conditions needed when implementing this approach. In this sense, diversity is a key element where individuals need to feel they are being represented adequately (Niemi, 2021) and that their identities are known and respected by educators and staff (Eizadirad et al., 2022). Families are informed and prepared to take part in decision-making and curriculum planning (Perry and Geller, 2021), playing a proactive role and making power relations more balanced (Ishimaru, 2018). Other conditions that favour this collaborative approach implementation are creating an evaluation system for the actions (Fletcher et al., 2021), establishing shared priorities, and having a propitious political climate (Ishimaru, 2014). It is also important the school culture presents an open, collaborative, and welcoming environment (Fletcher et al., 2021) and focuses on working to shift deficit-based mindsets (Perry and Geller, 2021), characterised by low expectations for low-income and black students and by seeing nondominant parents as people who cannot contribute with school improvement (Ishimaru, 2014). Some

interesting conditions that appeared were the need to change the role of media in creating stories of a failed school (Ishimaru, 2018), the application of restorative justice practices to tackle behavioural issues (Ishimaru, 2018), and the idea of building youth leadership to improve trust and engagement among stakeholders (Fletcher et al., 2021). Lastly, in terms of resources, processes, and funding, it is important to have school administrators committed to collaborative initiatives, allowing time and funds, and support them (Fletcher et al., 2021), a team to coordinate and nurture the partnerships (Fletcher et al., 2021), and create an infrastructure with information flow for collaborating with families (Ishimaru, 2017).

Many barriers were presented by the empirical cases during the implementation. For example, peoples' own interests and cultures might prevent the development of a common vision (Perry and Geller, 2021). Also, deficit-based strategies to "fix" families, which can be seen as part of the problem instead of valuable sources for change (Ishimaru, 2014), and lack of resources with time limitations, weak leadership, and poverty in communities (Fletcher et al., 2021). Beyond that, it is worth mentioning power issues such as strong hierarchies based on top-down power structures with a lack of communication and legitimacy (Niemi, 2021), no alteration in power relations among practitioners, school managers, and students, and systemic barriers that impede civic engagement (e.g., lack of transportation, violence, and the need of having many jobs) (Perry and Geller, 2021). Finally, barriers associated with governance and sustainability aspects also require attention. Partnerships that are not formalised can make it difficult for knowledge management and evaluation processes (Fletcher et al., 2021). Turnover impacts the durability of school-community partnerships and initiatives must not rely on only one individual in a school (Fletcher et al., 2021). And a lack of integration among the strategies, the preparation of families, and teacher professional development, will impact an unsuccessful implementation (Ishimaru, 2017).

Regarding educational equity outcomes, the cases using this approach indicated that the opportunity gap was addressed through a more efficient and connected information flow (Niemi, 2021), by offering great opportunities that students could afford such as after-school activities (Eizadirad et al., 2022) and preparation for college and labour work, with better student support and resources to most vulnerable schools (Fletcher et al., 2021), and with more inclusive climates in schools and districts (Ishimaru, 2014).

These improvements in the processes impacted minimising the achievement gap, which was illustrated through the increase in graduation rates, the progress in 3rd-grade reading (Perry and Geller, 2021), and the cutback in outcome disparities between white and other communities of colour, and between middle-class students and low-income students (Ishimaru, 2019).

4.3. Discussion

The top-down legacy of educational systems challenges moving beyond hierarchies and bureaucracies to implement a collaborative approach that engages diverse stakeholders. Despite the discourse of school autonomy, the activities are usually centralised through accountability mechanisms and inspections (Ainscow et al., 2016). The use of regulation or laws to impose reforms (Chapman, 2019) is common, which goes against the collaborative idea.

From the empirical cases analysed in this study, it was possible to identify the main conditions that favours the implementation of a collaborative approach. Firstly, the goal-setting process, where the stakeholders establish a common objective for the initiative, such as combating chronic absenteeism, as exemplified in the United States case (Nelson, 2022). Secondly, the creation of tools for monitoring and evaluating initiatives, using data and evidence to track the need for changes, like the New Zealand case (Meyer et al., 2023), which had close monitoring of the project progress based on indicators associated with the goals. Thirdly, having propitious school routines and culture, with space for sharing knowledge and practices by practitioners. In the case of Finland (Niemi, 2021), their schools' routine has an efficient information flow, and their schools' culture is based on a collaborative mindset instead of control. The fourth condition is having good relationships and trust among partners. The Australian case (Wilkinson et al., 2017) demonstrates they value local expertise showing respect to practitioners, creating a fruitful environment for trust and healthy interactions. Fifthly, the existence of adequate resources, processes, and funding are the pillars of institutional capacity. One example is the case of California (Burns et al., 2019), which made available flexible funding to hire arts teachers to both provide classes for students and to allow weekly time for other teachers to work on professional collaboration. Lastly, the understanding of context-based and power balancing as central. The case in the West United States (Ishimaru, 2018) used a strategy where students were positioned as teachers' trainers to provide courses about institutional

racism, contributing to a change in power relations and using the students' experiences about the topic.

When it comes to the question if all four approaches can work in all contexts, what was possible to identify is that in contexts with high achievement gaps among diverse groups (e.g., low-income, black, and Indigenous students), high levels of inequities (e.g., race, gender, social class, disabilities, and origin), and with the increase of cultural diversity and immigrant population, different collaborative approaches were used and successful results were reported. However, in a very competitive society, characterised by low reliability and being market-oriented, the Community-Based Design Research approach does not seem to be a good choice, because it requires a more propitious scenario in terms of relationships and trust-building to be implemented, so a step back should be taken by these contexts in order to develop better these aspects before using this approach.

Regarding the barriers found during the implementation, they are similar for all approaches. Even though the concrete examples presented in the cases might differ due to the characteristics of each approach (e.g., the resistance to change by statusquo defenders who fear the loss of power on the Improvement Science approach and the resistance of teachers to open classroom for external visitors on the Design-based Implementation research), the main ideas behind the barriers are the same. Six major types of barriers were identified. One is the difficulty in common goal setting and shared interests among partners. In the case of Germany (Kolleck et al., 2020), they found that different partners had distinct levels of identification with the goal established depending on their positions in the network and on the core activities their organisations have. Another barrier is the lack of capability and human and financial resources to implement and scale collaborative initiatives. One of the United States cases (Ishimaru, 2019) mentioned that the structure of the partnership stimulated an atmosphere of competition for resources among project partners. Also, the beliefs and expectations of the stakeholders are sometimes biased by stereotypes and associated with low expectations for students of underrepresented groups. One concrete example is the case of New York (Gonzalez, 2022), where it was identified that some teachers, parents, and community members had negative views about students' potential depending on their race and socio-economic status, which is called deficit thinking. Additionally, the resistance to changing and maintaining the status quo is another barrier. During the initiative in Chile (Madrid Miranda and Chapman, 2021), it was required that practitioners from schools and trainers from the university exposed their practices and opened their classrooms, which at first was challenging and relied on trust building to happen. There are also political and external influences and power imbalances, and the way systems are structured. It was reported in one of the cases in the United States (Watson et al., 2018) that a few stakeholders were afraid of losing their power and autonomy, which made them not willing to collaborate. The last barrier is the lack of attention to aspects of governance and sustainability. The Northern Ireland case (Gallagher, 2016) illustrates that with the fact that their activities had a short-term focus, instead of longer-term, demonstrating a lack of thinking about the sustainability of the initiative.

In terms of educational equity outcomes, the analysis was made through two main concepts: the opportunity gap, which is associated with educational processes, and the achievement gap, which is associated with educational results. Both are connected since the processes are the means to obtain the results aimed, and inequities in the processes will lead to inequities in results. Based on the empirical cases, it is not possible to say that there is one approach that contributes more to equity in education since the outcomes reported are similar among them and all presented positive contributions, even though it cannot be generalised and applied to all students involved. Then, the most relevant aspect to consider when choosing the approach is to understand which one fits better the aims and the context, and if it is the case, combining more than one.

To conclude this section, four key lessons from the systematic literature review process will be presented. First, there might have pitfalls when collaborating. These pitfalls can be either the case of partners "pretending" to collaborate or/and the so-called "price of nice." The former is when the stakeholders involved in the collaboration process fully agree with each other and there is no challenge. Hargreaves (2000) named it "contrived collegiality", which consists of "artificial arrangements that may lead to ineffective collaborative relationships" (Ainscow et al., 2019, p.160). In this scenario, there are no real changes, and the partnership is created only because it can be seen as something positive by society (Ainscow, 2016, p.6). The latter is associated with the idea that good intentions are likely to maintain educational inequities. Niceness is related to harmony, comfort, silence, passivity, avoidance, lack of conflict,

and to deficit mindset about students and school communities. It contributes to the perpetuation of the status quo and diverts attention far from discussions about oppression, inequities, and institutional dominance (Castagno, 2019). In this sense, it is necessary to be careful when implementing collaborative approaches to not fall into the trap of supporting existing power structures and compromising the authenticity of initiatives that look for effective changes with the justification of being nice.

Second, the meaning of equity in the empirical cases seems to be much more associated with the processes in education than with its results. The cases reported positive contributions towards more equity in education, both through addressing opportunity gaps and achievement gaps. However, most of these impacts identified were associated with educational processes or reducing opportunity gaps, such as professional development, mindset changing, the centrality of students in the learning process, improvement of school culture and environment, the focus on respect for diversity, and the offering of extra activities. The fact that most of the impacts were found on the educational processes and not on the educational results probably happens because the collaborative approaches require long-term initiatives to close the achievement gap, so the empirical cases would need more time to track the results aimed. Another probable reason for this is that education is influenced by diverse factors and establishing a direct correlation between better educational outcomes and collaborative approaches can be challenging.

Third, to implement collaborative approaches, policymakers, researchers, practitioners, and other stakeholders involved must have beliefs and values aligned with the rationale of collaboration. For example, the need to address power imbalances emerged frequently in the cases, especially those related to the Community-Based Design Research approach. If the actors believe that a specific group is more important or valuable than others, that power is and must keep being the privilege of a few, and only this small group can implement initiatives for educational improvement, they are not in agreement with the premises of collaborative initiatives and its implementation is likely to fail. Historically and culturally, reforms have been underpinned by top-down and centralised perspective, which influences these beliefs. Nonetheless, it is important to analyse if the stakeholders have the will to shift this mindset and try alternative ways. By doing that, better expectations about the implementation of collaborative approaches can be established.

Forth, regardless of whether collaborative approaches are the best option for tackling educational inequities, the idea that a silver bullet will solve the challenges in education seems to be outdated, as well as replicating practices that worked in one reality, since it does not mean it will work somewhere else. In this sense, one premise that should permeate any effort toward education improvement is to always consider local expertise before planning and implementing any initiatives. There is valuable knowledge in the field, which has been undervalued or even ignored by policymakers and researchers. This probably happens either because teachers make up a large group of people, which implies great challenges regarding the coordination of actions to promote their engagement, or because politicians and policymakers see it as a threat to the existing power structures. Instead of trying to find fancy solutions or reinvent the wheel, the appreciation and involvement of practitioners, combined with a context-based approach, must be central to any educational reform.

In summary, the empirical cases analysed in this study indicated positive outcomes in terms of equity in education through collaborative approaches; however, implementing these approaches is not a simple task. It requires balancing change, support, and system conditions. Social cohesion needs to be increased towards a more egalitarian culture, with fewer hierarchies and social control (Ainscow et al., 2019). Collegial working must be consistent, and its practices must be effective in benefiting students (Hargreaves et al., 2015, p.132). The educational system's culture, processes, structures, resources, leadership, institutional capacity, and accountability mechanisms must be aligned with the principles of collaboration to achieve a successful implementation (Chapman and Fullan, 2007, p.207).

CHAPTER 5 - POLICY, PRACTICE, AND RESEARCH RECOMMENDATIONS TO BRAZIL

Brazil has currently 47.4 million enrolments in basic education, which contemplates from early childhood to high school stage (Inep, 2023). The public sector serves 81% of this total, totalizing 200 days of school in a year, with at least four hours per day (Weller and Horta Neto, 2020). Education is mandatory and free at all levels between the ages of 4 and 17 (Weller and Horta Neto, 2020).

High-income students tend to attend private schools and low-income ones, public schools. Private schools are more likely to have a better school climate and more motivated teachers (Soares, 2004). Students from advantaged backgrounds usually have academic ambitions shared with their colleagues, and they tend to receive cultural capital from their families (Soares, 2004). According to Soares (2004), the phenomenon of school segregation contributes to the reproduction of inequalities, and socioeconomic status is the factor that most impacts students' achievements.

There are still great challenges in reducing educational inequities and qualifying public schools in Brazil. Adequate learning levels are not achieved by many students, and when it comes to black students the statistics are even worse (Soares, 2004). One example is that only 41% of black people conclude high school, which can be linked to discriminatory pedagogical practices in schools, institutional biases, and other barriers they face, such as economic and social ones (Lima, 2011). Additionally, the continental size of Brazil brings challenges associated with access to remote areas and, consequently fewer quality resources and support are available to these regions.

The recent educational reforms in Brazil have not contributed to improving this reality. They have been focusing on curriculum and testing standardisation, and on decentralisation, which in practice means transferring responsibilities to schools, acting like a business organisation model (Souza, 2003). These policies, in general, do not consider the complexity of the school, which has its own culture and characteristics. In addition, the school community is not included in decision-making and only acts as a legitimiser of the processes (Souza, 2003).

To reduce these socioeconomic, regional, and cultural disparities, an alternative way for Brazil is to start looking at collaborative approaches in education with more attention. Since the Brazilian educational system is characterised by a competitive culture, with school rankings and bonuses policies in some states, and with low levels of trust between practitioners and policymakers, the Community-Based Design Research approach would not be recommended at first. Instead, either the Strategic Education Research Partnership or the Design-based Implementation Research, or the Improvement Science in Networked Improvement Communities approach would be more appropriate until relationship and trust building can be developed. Surely there will be exceptions, and there are municipalities and even states in the country that are prepared to use the Community-Based Design Research approach now, leaving this analysis and decision at the discretion of each location.

It is also significant to be aware that the large inequalities in Brazil only can be fully addressed through an intersectoral perspective. Poverty has multiple causes and diverse public bodies must be working together with the education sector, such as health, housing, social development, food security, economic development, sports, and culture. In this sense, all the collaborative approaches presented here were identified as helpful in establishing structured partnerships beyond schools. At the same time, Brazilian schools and practitioners have deep knowledge and expertise about what works better in their realities, making collaboration a powerful tool within schools (e.g., enquiry team with iterative cycles, teachers peers, classroom visits and feedback, and students collaborating) and between them (e.g., cross-school workshops, principals' pairs, and school clusters).

On the one hand, it is necessary to work on the conditions that favour the implementation of these approaches. For the Brazilian context, specifically, it is essential to focus on allowing the resources, processes, and funding, with available time and training for collaborative actions. Also, to build relationships and trust among the stakeholders through more balance in terms of power and with initiatives based on schools' context. Not least important, working on school culture and climate, and on deficit mindsets, such as the belief that marginalised students are not capable of having successful paths, are key for setting common goals and agendas and achieving system improvement. On the other hand, there are barriers likely to be faced that need to be tackled. They are related to the difficulty in establishing shared interests among partners, the lack of capability for implementation, the existing biases on the educational system associated with low expectations for specific cohorts of students,

the good intentions (or so-called niceness) that prevent the inequalities to be overcome, the resistance to change, the political influences, the power imbalances, and the lack of structures of governance.

To reduce the opportunity and achievement gap in Brazilian education, the following recommendations are made in three major areas: policy, research, and practice. In terms of policy recommendations, it is necessary to rethink teachers' initial training and professional development with a focus on equity, collaboration, and evidence. The government should give closer support to the schools that most need it, instead of using punitive and narrowed accountability mechanisms, working in partnership with them and not based on a top-down perspective. A bone organisation is required to coordinate collaborative projects. Political influences on education must be significantly reduced and the understanding that improvement requires long-term initiatives needs to prevail and be put into practice. Human and financial resources should be adjusted for the collaborative approaches' implementation, as well as the restructuring of school functioning, with more time for training and practice sharing among teachers. Lastly, new ways of monitoring and evaluating schools, practitioners, and students must be implemented, contemplating the diversity of students' abilities, and learning processes, with a focus on improvement and not competition. For the research recommendations, the first step is strengthening the formation of researchers and institutions on collaborative approaches, since nowadays this is not a priority theme in the academy in Brazil. In parallel, partnerships between universities and schools can be increased, with a focus on addressing local demands according to schools' needs. And the professional development of educational professionals should have a greater level of research and evidence elements. The practice recommendations revolve around creating schools' clusters for collaboration among schools according to specific criteria, expanding assessment types that do not rely only on summative ones and standardised tests, addressing deficit mindset and school culture issues, allowing elevated expectations for all students, and developing openness on practitioners for acting on collaborative enquiries with their peers and enabling visits to their classrooms.

Table 4 summarises the recommendations for Brazilian education to implement collaborative approaches and achieve a more equitable system. It is worth emphasizing that this is not a recipe and there is no silver bullet when it comes to

education, but it can serve as a guide for each school and educational system to rethink its ways.

Table 4: Summary of recommendations for Brazilian education

Type	Recommendation					
	Rethink teachers' initial training					
	 Strong focus on professional development 					
	 Technical support from the government 					
Policy	 Bone organisation to coordinate collaborative initiatives 					
Policy	 Human and financial resources 					
	Restructure of school functioning					
	 New ways of monitoring and evaluation 					
	Less political influence					
	Focus on forming researchers and institutions on					
	collaborative approaches					
Research	 Partnerships between universities and schools, to 					
1100001011	address local demands					
	 Professional development focused on research and 					
	evidence-based					
	 Creation of schools' clusters for collaboration 					
	 Expand assessment types 					
Practice	 Address deficit mindset and school culture elements 					
	Openness for collaborative enquiry, sharing practices,					
	and exposing classroom					

Source: elaborated by the author (2023).

CHAPTER 6 - CONCLUSION

Education should not be based on heavy competition, which is characterised by the existence of winners and losers. Education should be designed to attend to all students according to their specific needs and abilities. Nowadays, is common to find in educational systems "deficit frameworks [that] teach kids to adapt to systems that are broken rather than requiring broken systems to adapt or even be fixed" (Castagno, 2019, xvii). This scenario is allowing the emergence of new ways to pursue improvement in education, where collaborative approaches have been seen with exciting potential.

This study explores whether it is possible to tackle educational inequities through collaborative approaches by analysing twenty empirical cases. Positive outcomes in terms of equity in education have been reported by the educational systems that implemented them. Even though their contexts and goals can be diverse, they have in common the understanding that an alternative way to achieve social justice is by collaborating through a democratic and participatory process (Fletcher et al., 2021). The four collaborative approaches presented in this dissertation have specific features and each of them can be more suitable for some realities; however, they are interconnected, and a combination between them is a possibility for better results. The perspective of working in partnership beyond schools is essential when talking about equity because this is key for supporting mental health and addressing poverty and racism implications. Equitable and impactful partnerships between the school and its community cannot rely on an exceptional school leader (Perry and Geller, 2021), being necessary to create governance and structures able to engage families in the school routine in a sustainable way, enabling them to be part in taking decisions about policy and resource development.

I conclude by stating that collaborative approaches must receive more attention from policymakers, politicians, researchers, practitioners, and other stakeholders involved in education in Brazil. These actors need to create the environment and conditions and articulate the whole educational ecosystem to work truly collaboratively with equity in the centre. It is also fundamental to reduce the distance between policymakers and researchers to enable more effective practice in education. There is no more time to spend reproducing top-down reforms, that do not value the expertise of teachers, do

not consider families and students' voices, and do not acknowledge how important the context is in education. The cost has been not only the country's development but the future of our most vulnerable young people.

In terms of suggestions for further research, firstly, a focus can be given to experiences of collaboration in countries in development, since most cases analysed in this study are from developed countries, so other perspectives and insights can be found in that reality. Secondly, novel studies can explore the most equitable educational systems around the world to better understand their contexts, backgrounds, policies, and relationships with collaborative approaches. Lastly, I recommend a deeper reflection on specific conditions or barriers to implementing collaborative initiatives, such as family engagement, power balancing, resistance reduction, and common goal establishment, to comprehend how it is possible to create or overcome them.

References

Ainscow, M. (2016). Collaboration as a strategy for promoting equity in education: possibilities and barriers. *Journal of Professional Capital and Community*, 1(2), pp.159-172. doi:https://doi.org/10.1108/jpcc-12-2015-0013.

Ainscow, M. (2021). Promoting Equity in Education through System Change. *Implementing Educational Reform: Cases and Challenges*, p.17.

Ainscow, M., Chapman, C. and Hadfield, M. (2019). *Changing Education Systems: A Research-based Approach*. [online] *Google Books*. Routledge. Available at: https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=vZq4DwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PT8&dq=Ainscow [Accessed 12 May 2023].

Apple, M.W. (2004). Creating Difference: Neo-Liberalism, Neo-Conservatism and the Politics of Educational Reform. *Educational Policy*, 18(1), pp.12-44. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904803260022.

Arkhipenka, V., Dawson, S., Fitriyah, S., Goldrick, S., Howes, A. and Palacios, N. (2018). Practice and performance: changing perspectives of teachers through collaborative enquiry. *Educational Research*, 60(1), pp.97-112. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2017.1421475.

Armstrong, P.W. and Ainscow, M. (2018). School-to-school support within a competitive education system: views from the inside. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 29(4), pp.614-633. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2018.1499534.

Armstrong, P.W., Brown, C. and Chapman, C.J. (2020). School-to-school collaboration in England: A configurative review of the empirical evidence. *Review of Education*, 9(1), pp.319-351. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/rev3.3248.

Barber, M. and Mourshed, M. (2007). How the world's best performing systems come out on top. *bibliotecadigital.mineduc.cl.* [online] Available at: https://bibliotecadigital.mineduc.cl/handle/20.500.12365/17300.

Bell, I. and Donaldson, G. (2021). Creating a learning system: Possibilities and challenges. *Educational Equity*, pp.157-170.

Berg, J.H. and Gleason, S.C. (2018). Come together for equity. *The Learning Professional*, 39(5), pp.24-27.

Biesta, G. (2007). Why 'what works' will not work: Evidence-based practice and the democratic deficit in educational research. *Educational Theory*, 57(1), pp.1-22. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-5446.2006.00241.x.

Burns, D., Darling-Hammond, L. and Scott, C. (2019). *Closing the Opportunity Gap: How Positive Outlier Districts in California Are Pursuing Equitable Access to Deeper Learning. Positive Outliers Series*. [online] ERIC. Available at: https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED610874 [Accessed 22 Jun. 2023].

Cameron, S., Daga, R. and Outhred, R. (2018). *Handbook on Measuring Equity in Education*. [online] Available at: http://uis.unesco.org/sites/default/files/documents/handbook-measuring-equity-education-2018-en.pdf.

Castagno, A.E. (2019). *The Price of Nice: How Good Intentions Maintain Educational Inequity*. [online] *Google Books*. U of Minnesota Press. Available at: https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=GFixDwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PT7&dq=Castagno [Accessed 10 Jul. 2023].

Chapman, C. (2019). From hierarchies to networks. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 57(5), pp.554-570. doi:https://doi.org/10.1108/jea-12-2018-0222.

Chapman, C., Chestnutt, H., Friel, N., Hall, S. and Lowden, K. (2016). Professional capital and collaborative inquiry networks for educational equity and improvement? *Journal of Professional Capital and Community*, 1(3), pp.178-197. doi:https://doi.org/10.1108/jpcc-03-2016-0007.

Chapman, C., Drever, A., McBride, M.A., Orr, C. and Weakley, S. (2019). *Leading Place-Based Interventions to Improve Outcomes in Low Socio-economic Settings*. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham, pp.379-400. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-23736-3 15.

Chapman, C. and Fullan, M. (2007). Collaboration and partnership for equitable improvement: towards a networked learning system? *School Leadership & Management*, 27(3), pp.207-211. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/13632430701379354.

Chilisa, B. and Kawulich, B. (2012). Selecting a research approach: paradigm, methodology and methods. In: *Doing social research: A global context*. [online] pp.51-61. Available at: https://yuli-elearning.com/pluginfile.php/4360/mod resource/content/1/Paradigma%20Penelitian pdf.

Clark, P., Zygmunt, E. and Howard, T. (2016). Why Race and Culture Matter in Schools, and Why We Need to Get This Right: A Conversation with Dr. Tyrone Howard. *The Teacher Educator*, 51(4), pp.268-276. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/08878730.2016.1210414.

Coburn, C.E. and Penuel, W.R. (2016). Research-Practice Partnerships in Education. *Educational Researcher*, 45(1), pp.48-54. doi:https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x16631750.

Codiroli Mcmaster, N. and Cook, R. (2018). The contribution of intersectionality to quantitative research into educational inequalities. *Review of Education*, 7(2). doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/rev3.3116.

Darling-Hammond, L. (2009). Teaching and the change wars: The professionalism hypothesis. In: *Change Wars*. [online] Solution Tree Press. Available at: https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=NGEXBwAAQBAJ&lpg=PT47&ots=k 1hXnbV mz&dg=Darling-

Hammond%2C%20L.%20(2009).%20Teaching%20and%20thechange%20wars%3A

<u>%20The%20professionalismhypothesis.%20Change%20wars%2C3&lr&pg=PT47#v</u> = onepage&g&f=false [Accessed 25 May 2023].

Easterbrook, M.J. and Hadden, I.R. (2020). Tackling Educational Inequalities with Social Psychology: Identities, Contexts, and Interventions. *Social Issues and Policy Review*, 15(1), pp.180-236. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/sipr.12070.

Eizadirad, A., Abudiab, S. and Baartman, B. (2022). The Community School Initiative in Toronto: Mitigating Opportunity Gaps in the Jane and Finch Community in the Wake of COVID-19. *The Radical Teacher*, [online] 124, pp.33-42. Available at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/48707984 [Accessed 02 Jul. 2023].

Elmore, R.F. (2016). 'Getting to scale...' it seemed like a good idea at the time. *Journal of Educational Change*, 17(4), pp.529-537. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10833-016-9290-8.

EPPI Center (2019). *What is a Systematic Review?* [online] eppi.ioe.ac.uk. Available at: https://eppi.ioe.ac.uk/cms/Default.aspx?tabid=67.

Fletcher, E.C., Smith, C.A.S. and Hernandez-Gantes, V.M. (2020). IT Takes a Village: A Case Study of Internal and External Supports of an Urban High School Magnet Career Academy. *The Urban Review*, 53, pp.681-707. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-020-00593-9.

Formosinho, J. and Figueiredo, I. (2014). Promoting equity in an early years context: the role of participatory educational teams. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 22(3), pp.397-411. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/1350293x.2014.912902.

Fullan, M. (2006). *Change theory: a force for school change*. [online] Melbourne: Centre for Strategic Education. Available at: http://michaelfullan.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/13396072630.pdf.

Fullan, M. (2007). *The New Meaning of Educational Change, Fourth Edition. Google Books*. New York: Teachers College Press.

Fullan, M. (2009). Large-scale reform comes of age. *Journal of Educational Change*, 10(2-3), pp.101-113. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10833-009-9108-z.

Fullan, M. (2010). Chapter 1: The Idea and Importance of Whole-System Reform. In: *All Systems Go: The Change Imperative for Whole System Reform.* [online] Corwin Press, pp.3-18. Available at: https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=IUHRFrkaBXsC&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&dq=Fullan [Accessed 04 Jun. 2023].

Gallagher, T. (2016). Shared education in Northern Ireland: school collaboration in divided societies. *Oxford Review of Education*, 42(3), pp.362-375. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2016.1184868.

Glazer, J.L. and Peurach, D.J. (2012). School Improvement Networks as a Strategy for Large-Scale Education Reform. *Educational Policy*, 27(4), pp.676-710. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904811429283.

Godfrey, D. (2021). *Understanding School-To-School Peer Review And Its Transformational Power*. [online] Teaching Times. Available at: https://www.teachingtimes.com/understanding-school-to-school-peer-review-and-its-power-to-transform/ [Accessed 29 May 2023].

Gonzalez, L. (2022). Superintendents and School Boards Collaborate to Narrow Achievement Gaps: A Suburban New York Multisite Case Study. *Journal for Leadership and Instruction*, [online] 21(2), pp.9-14. Available at: https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1376152 [Accessed 28 Jun. 2023].

Griffiths, A.-J., Alsip, J., Hart, S.R., Round, R.L. and Brady, J. (2020). Together We Can Do So Much: A Systematic Review and Conceptual Framework of Collaboration in Schools. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, [online] 36(1), p.082957352091536. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/0829573520915368.

Hadfield, M. and Ainscow, M. (2018). Inside a self-improving school system: Collaboration, competition, and transition. *Journal of Educational Change*, 19(4), pp.441-462. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10833-018-9330-7.

Hanushek, E.A. (2016). What Matters for Student Achievement: Updating Coleman on the influence of families and schools: Education Next. [online] Available at: http://www.k12accountability.org/resources/At-Risk-Students/hanushek on coleman.pdf.

Hargreaves, A. and Shirley, D. (2009). *The Fourth Way: The Inspiring Future for Educational Change*. Thousand Oaks: Corwin Press.

Hargreaves, A., Timperley, H., Huerta, M. and Instance, D. (2015). *Improving Schools in Scotland: An OECD Perspective*. [online] Available at: https://www.oecd.org/education/school/Improving-Schools-in-Scotland-An-OECD-Perspective.pdf.

Hargreaves, D.H. (1995). School Culture, School Effectiveness and School Improvement. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 6(1), pp.23-46. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/0924345950060102.

Hart, C. (2019). *Doing a Literature Review*. [online] SAGE Publications Ltd. Available at: https://uk.sagepub.com/en-gb/eur/doing-a-literature-review/book257278.

Hill, D., M. Greaves, N. and Maisuria, A. (2012). Education, inequality, and neoliberal capitalism: a classical Marxist analysis. In: *Global Neoliberalism and Education and its Consequences*. Routledge, pp.122-146.

Howard, T.C. (2019). Why Race and Culture Matter in Schools: Closing the Achievement Gap in America's Classrooms. [online] Google Books. Teachers College Press.

Available at: https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=D5fLDwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PT29 &dq=Howard [Accessed 02 Jun. 2023].

Inep (2023) 6.9% of public schools have between 20% and 50% full-time students. Instituto Nacional de Estudos e Pesquisas Educacionais Anísio Teixeira | Inep. Translated from Portuguese into English by Caroline Dourado. Available at:

https://www.gov.br/inep/pt-br/assuntos/noticias/censo-escolar/6-9-das-escolas-publicas-tem-entre-20-e-50-de-alunos-em-tempo-integral#:~:text=Ao%20todo%2C%20o%20censo%20registrou,creches%20em%20funcionamento%20no%20Brasil [Accessed: 11 July 2023].

Ishimaru, A. (2014). Rewriting the Rules of Engagement: Elaborating a Model of District-Community Collaboration. *Harvard Educational Review*, 84(2), pp.188-216. doi:https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.84.2.r2007u165m8207j5.

Ishimaru, A.M. (2017). From Family Engagement to Equitable Collaboration. *Educational Policy*, 33(2), pp.350-385. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904817691841.

Ishimaru, A.M. (2018). Re-imagining turnaround: families and communities leading educational justice. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 56(5), pp.546-561. doi:https://doi.org/10.1108/jea-01-2018-0013.

Kang, H. and González-Howard, M. (2022). Beginning school-university partnerships for transformative social change in science education: Narratives from the field. *Science Education*, 106(5), pp.1178-1197. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21723.

Kelly, J., Sadeghieh, T. and Adeli, K. (2014). Peer Review in Scientific Publications: Benefits, Critiques, & A Survival Guide. *EJIFCC*, 25(3), pp.227-243.

Kolleck, N., Rieck, A. and Yemini, M. (2019). Goals aligned: Predictors of common goal identification in educational cross-sectoral collaboration initiatives. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 48(5), pp.916-934. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143219846906.

Hulme, M., Elliot, D. and Menter, I.J. (2011). A Guide to Practitioner Research in Education. www.torrossa.com/en/resources/an/4913286 [Accessed 21 May 2023].

Lenhoff, S.W., Edwards, E.B., Claiborne, J., Singer, J. and French, K.R. (2020). A Collaborative Problem-Solving Approach to Improving District Attendance Policy. *Educational Policy*, [online] 36(6), pp.1464-1506. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904820974402.

Lewis, R. (2018). *Peer Enquiry: A Participant's Insight*. [online] Central South Consortium. Available at: https://www.cscjes.org.uk/api/storage/6de4a64c-3bf6-492f-8f6e-fb489aeb07e9?preview=true [Accessed 14 Jun. 2023].

Lichand, G., Perpétuo, M.E. and Soares dos Santos, P. (2022). An Education Inequity Index. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. doi:https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4250539.

Lima, M. (2011). Access to higher education in Brazil: inequalities, educational system, and affirmative action policies. [online] Coventry: Institute for Employment Research, University of Warwick. Available at: https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=1b3ad56e6420b8 252bfd3e5831fa5817fe41cd9e [Accessed 20 May 2023].

- Louis, K.S. (2019). Foreword. In: *Changing education systems: A research-based approach*. Routledge, pp.iii-xii.
- Lowden, K., Neary, J. and Hall, S. (2021). Lessons from the School Improvement Partnership Programme. In: *Educational Equity*. Routledge, pp.77-93.
- Madrid Miranda, R. and Chapman, C. (2021). Towards a network learning system: reflections on a university initial teacher education and school-based collaborative initiative in Chile. *Professional Development in Education*, pp.1-15. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2021.1902840.
- Mertens, D.M. (2019). An Introduction to Research: Why Bother? In: *Research and evaluation in education and psychology: Integrating diversity with quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods.* [online] Sage publications. Available at: https://www.sagepub.com/sites/default/files/upm-binaries/29985 Chapter 1.pdf [Accessed 19 Jul. 2023].
- Meyer, F., Bendikson, L. and Le Fevre, D.M. (2020). Leading school improvement through goal setting: Evidence from New Zealand schools. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 51(2), pp.365-383. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143220979711.
- Muijs, D., Harris, A., Chapman, C., Stoll, L. and Russ, J. (2004). Improving Schools in Socioeconomically Disadvantaged Areas: A Review of Research Evidence. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 15(2), pp.149-175. doi:https://doi.org/10.1076/sesi.15.2.149.30433.
- Nelson, G. (2022). Combating chronic absenteeism: multitiered systems of support at the elementary level. In: *Improvement Science as a Tool for School Enhancement: Solutions for Better Educational Outcomes.* Stylus Publishing, LLC, pp.67-79.
- Niemi, H. (2021). Education Reforms for Equity and Quality: An Analysis from an Educational Ecosystem Perspective with Reference to Finnish Educational Transformations. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, [online] 11(2), pp.13-35. Available at: https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1309479.
- Omoeva, C., Menezes Cunha, N. and Moussa, W. (2021). Measuring equity of education resource allocation: An output-based approach. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 87, p.102492. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2021.102492.
- Paré, G. and Kitsiou, S. (2017). Chapter 9: Methods for Literature Reviews. In: *Handbook of eHealth Evaluation: An Evidence-based Approach*. [online] Victoria (BC): University of Victoria. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK481583/.
- Penuel, W.R., Riedy, R., Barber, M.S., Peurach, D.J., LeBouef, W.A. and Clark, T. (2020). Principles of Collaborative Education Research with Stakeholders: Toward Requirements for a New Research and Development Infrastructure. *Review of Educational Research*, 90(5), pp.627-674. doi:https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654320938126.

Perry, D.M. and Geller, J. (2021). Toward an Integrated, Systemic, and Sustainable Model of Transformational Family Engagement: The Case of the Kentucky Statewide Family Engagement Center. *Social Sciences*, 10(10), p.402. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci10100402.

Peurach, D.J. and Glazer, J.L. (2011). Reconsidering replication: new perspectives on large-scale school improvement. *Journal of Educational Change*, 13(2), pp.155-190. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10833-011-9177-7.

Peurach, D.J., Glazer, J.L. and Winchell Lenhoff, S. (2014). The Developmental Evaluation of School Improvement Networks. *Educational Policy*, 30(4), pp.606-648. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904814557592.

Rinehart Kathawalla, R. and Mehta, J. (2022). Humans in Hierarchies: Intergroup Relations in Education Reform. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 58(4), pp.597-637. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161x221098072.

Soares, F. (2004). *Quality and equity in Brazilian basic education: facts and possibilities.* [online] pp.69-88. Available at: http://www.schwartzman.org.br/simon/oxford/3 chico.pdf.

Souza, Â. R. D. (2003). Education reforms: decentralization, management, and school autonomy. Translated from Portuguese into English by Caroline Dourado. *Educar em Revista*, 22, pp.17-49. Available at: http://educa.fcc.org.br/pdf/er/n22/n22a03.pdf [Accessed 10 Jul. 2023].

Stiglitz, J. E. (2013). *The price of inequality: How today's divided society endangers our future*. New York: W. W. Norton & Company.

Storz, M.G. (2008). Educational Inequity from the Perspectives of Those Who Live It: Urban Middle School Students' Perspectives on the Quality of their Education. *The Urban Review*, 40(3), pp.247-267. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-008-0083-0.

Swartz, D.L. (2003). From Correspondence to Contradiction and Change: Schooling in Capitalist America Revisited. *Sociological Forum*, 18(1), pp.167-186. doi:https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1022663030618.

Totterdell, M., Bubb, S., Woodroffe, L. and Hanrahan, K. (2004). The impact of newly qualified teachers (NQT) induction programmes on the enhancement of teacher expertise, professional development, job satisfaction or retention rates: a systematic review of research literature on induction This review is supported by the Teacher Training Agency (TTA) to promote the use of research and evidence to improve teaching and learning Review conducted by the NQT Induction Review Group © EPPI-Centre. [online] Available at: https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/1546927/1/Totterdell2004Theimpact.pdf [Accessed 17 May 2021].

Tranfield, D., Denyer, D. and Smart, P. (2003). Towards a Methodology for Developing Evidence-Informed Management Knowledge by Means of Systematic Review. *British Journal of Management*, 14(3), pp.207-222.

UNESCO (2017). *A guide for ensuring inclusion and equity in education*. [online] Unesco.org. Available at: https://unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000248254.

Unterhalter, E. (2009). What is Equity in Education? Reflections from the Capability Approach. *Studies in Philosophy and Education*, 28(5), pp.415-424. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s11217-009-9125-7.

Watson, W., Esquivel-Swinson, A. and Montemayor, R. (2018). Collaborative Impact and Professional Development: Effective Student Services for Immigrant Populations Amid Growing Inequality. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 42(11), pp.778-782. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2018.1448727.

Weller, W. and Horta Neto, J. L. (2020). The Brazilian education system: an overview of history and politics. *The Education Systems of the Americas*, pp.1-27. Available at: https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/978-3-319-93443-3 3-1.pdf [Accessed 26 June 2023].

Wilkinson, E.L., Lewthwaite, B.E. and McGinty, S.C. (2017). *More than the power of two: sharing leadership for social justice in Australian schools with Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students*. [online] researchonline.jcu.edu.au. Available at: https://researchonline.jcu.edu.au/52094/ [Accessed 23 Jun. 2023].

Zacka, B. (2017). When the State Meets the Street: Public Service and Moral Agency. [online] Google Books. Harvard University Press. Available at: https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=3KdFDwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&dq=Zacka [Accessed 16 May 2023].

Zapfe, L. and Gross, C. (2021). How do characteristics of educational systems shape educational inequalities? Results from a systematic review. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 109, p.101837. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2021.101837.

Appendix 1 - Systematic Literature Review GRID

S/ N	Reference	Sample	Method	Findings	Tags
1	Madrid Miranda, R., & Chapman, C. (2021). Towards a network learning system: reflections on a university initial teacher education and school-based collaborative initiative in Chile. Professional Development in Education, 1-15.	to improve Initial Teacher	"Semi-structured questionnaire at the beginning and the end of the Program. Semi-structured interviews and focus groups. Observational notes and records of meetings." (p.7)	"Insights on how the initiative becomes a space for building trust and relationships and disrupts boundaries between institutions, enhancing teacher professional learning." (p.1)	#collaborati on #enquiry #initial teacher education #university- school partnership
2	Burns, D., Darling- Hammond, L., & Scott, C. (2019). Closing the Opportunity Gap: How Positive Outlier Districts in California Are Pursuing Equitable Access to Deeper Learning. Positive Outliers Series. Learning Policy Institute.	Seven "positive outlier" districts in California.	"Three-phase, mixed-methods study examining positive outlier districts in California in which African American, Latino/a, and White students are consistently achieving at higher- than-predicted rates on California's assessments." (p.6)	Focus on students' learning, relationships building, staff empowerment, teachers' and leaders' development and retention, collective efficacy, collaborative enquiry-based instruction, use of evidence to inform practice, support for students based on their needs.	#equity #gap #learning #outliers #collaborati on
3	Meyer, F., Bendikson, L., & Le Fevre, D. M. (2020). Leading school improvement through goal setting: Evidence from New Zealand schools. Educational Management Administration & Leadership, 51(2), 365-383.	Elementary school and high schools in New Zealand.	"Case studies drew on principal and teacher interview data, workshop artifacts and discussion recordings, observations, school reports and school achievement data." (p.365)	"Challenge teachers' beliefs about current achievement to raise commitment; evaluate practices; distribute responsibility and leadership; develop capability and collective responsibility." (p.378)	#SchoolImpr ovement #goalsetting #principalle adership #leadership #monitoring #collectivere sponsibility

4	Niemi, H. (2021). Education Reforms for Equity and Quality: An Analysis from an Educational Ecosystem Perspective with Reference to Finnish Educational Transformations. Center for educational policy studies Journal, 11(2), 13-35.	Case study about the educational improvemen t process in Finland.	"The study is a literature-based analysis and review. It is based on policy level reports and reviews from international organisations, such as the OECD, World Bank, UNESCO, and the UNESCO Institute for Statistics (UIS)." (p.17)	within and between	#educatione cosystem #educationr eforms #interconne ctedness #communic ation #diversity
5	Armstrong, P. W., Brown, C., & Chapman, C. J. (2020). School-to- school collaboration in England: A configurative review of the empirical evidence. Review of Education, 9(1), 319- 351.	"Drawing on 46 peer- reviewed empirical studies from 2000 onwards." (p.19)	Literature review through the Education Resource Information Centre (ERIC) and Scopus.	"Why schools enter collaborative arrangements and the conditions and factors that can facilitate and hinder it, as well as the possible benefits it can bring." (p.19)	#collaborati on #competitio n #England #school
6	Eizadirad, A., Abudiab, S., & Baartman, B. (2022). The Community School Initiative in Toronto. The Radical Teacher, (124), 33-42.	The most under-resourced neighbourh oods in Toronto (CA).	Realisation of meetings, which were via Zoom. Survey and focus groups. Research blog.	"How to adapt and mobilize during the pandemic to mitigate opportunity and achievement gaps for Black, Indigenous, people of colour and families from lower socio-economic backgrounds." (p.34)	#community #school #pandemic
7	Watson, W., Esquivel- Swinson, A., & Montemayor, R. (2018). Collaborative impact and professional development: Effective student services for immigrant populations amid growing inequality. Community College	Community College District in the U.S.	Literature and data analysis.	"Building educational capacity strengthens institutional effectiveness, promotes economic mobility in marginalized communities, and prepares workforce for a globally	#collaborati on #immigrant #inequality #student #california

	Journal of Research and Practice, 42(11), 778-782.			competitive Silicon Valley." (p.779)	
8	Ishimaru, A. M. (2018). Re-imagining turnaround: Families and communities leading educational justice. Journal of Educational Administration, 56(5), 546-561.	High school in the West of the U.S.	Qualitative case study.	"Minoritized families, community and formal leaders enhanced conventional schooling structures to transform institutional scripts of schools and focus on equity-change for all students." (p.546)	#Parents #Educationa IAdministrati on #Educationa IInstitutions #DecisionM aking #Community Relations #EquityTheo ry
9	Fletcher, E. C., Smith, C. A., & Hernandez- Gantes, V. M. (2021). IT Takes a Village: A Case Study of Internal and External Supports of an Urban High School Magnet Career Academy. The Urban Review, 53, 681-707.	n region of the United	A qualitative case study design, with focus group, interview, and school/classroom observation.	"How schools can build a high-profile reputation with investment from key stakeholders within the district, as well as with the community, business/industry, and postsecondary partners." (p.699)	#CareerAca demy #Community Engagemen t #SchoolLea dership #SocialCapi tal
10	Formosinho, J., & Figueiredo, I. (2014). Promoting equity in an early year's context: the role of participatory educational teams. European Early Childhood Education Research Journal, 22(3), 397-411.	"The Childhood Association, supported by the Aga Khan Foundation, in Portugal." (p.397)	"Research conducted through structured observation using the adult's engagement scale, ethnographic type observation, field notes, and photos. Semi-structured interviews." (p.404)	How professional development about a participatory pedagogy can contribute for a better development on early childhood education.	ypedagogie s #educationa

				"KY Collaborative	
11	Perry, D. M., & Geller, J. (2021). Toward an integrated, systemic, and sustainable model of transformational family engagement: The case of the Kentucky statewide Family Engagement Center. Social Sciences, 10(10), 402.	Family Engagemen t in Kentucky.	A case study design, with interviews, observations, and survey data.	leverage partner's strengths to break through historical barriers that fail to acknowledge the critical role families play within and outside of schools. A commitment to strengthening families, building capacity, and supporting communities to achieve equity." (p.1)	#transformat ive #familyenga gement #collectivei mpact #model
12	Arkhipenka, V., Dawson, S., Fitriyah, S., Goldrick, S., Howes, A., & Palacios, N. (2018). Practice and performance: changing perspectives of teachers through collaborative enquiry. Educational Research, 60(1), 97-112.	Teachers involved in a collaborativ e action in England.	"Engagement with teachers, supporting enquiry processes. The study design was ethnographic, with tools introduced to generate systematic data within the process." (p.97)	"Enquiry can work as a tool, offering teachers a way of tackling a problem. But, in addition, enquiry can change the way teachers see themselves, leading to a deepening of teacher professional identity." (p.97)	#collaborati veenquiry #equity #performativ ity #practice #teacherdev elopment
13	Kolleck, N., Rieck, A., & Yemini, M. (2019). Goals aligned: Predictors of common goal identification in educational cross-sectoral collaboration initiatives. Educational Management Administration & Leadership, 48(5), 916-934.	A German study case to address inequality in education.	"A mixed-methods design, including surveys, semistructured interviews, and social network analysis, combined with logistic regression and qualitative content analysis." (p.916)	"Practical implications for networked leadership and school principals': the settings, skills and knowledge needed for	#SocialNetw orkAnalysis #CommonG oalIdentifica tion #Cross- sectoralColl aboration #Educationa INetwork #Third sector
14	Kang, H., & González- Howard, M. (2022). Beginning school- university partnerships for transformative social change in science education: Narratives from the	Two school- university partnerships	research	"Recommendations for supporting education researchers who aspire to transform the learning of sciences at schools through a	#equity #participator ydesignrese arch #schooluniv

	field. Science Education, 106(5), 1178-1197.			collaborative and sustainable partnership." (p.1178)	
15	Gallagher, T. (2016). Shared education in Northern Ireland: School collaboration in divided societies. Oxford Review of Education, 42(3), 362- 375.	Schools in Northern Ireland.	Systematic literature review.	"The paper outlines the genesis of the idea and the research which helped inform the shape of the shared education project." (p.362)	#NorthernIre land #SharedEdu cation #Integrated Education #Conflict #Educationa IChange #Impact
16	Ishimaru, A. (2014). Rewriting the rules of engagement: Elaborating a model of district-community collaboration. Harvard Educational Review, 84(2), 188-216.	parent	Single-case ethnographic exploratory study.	"An emergent model of collaboration that engages parents as educational leaders, focuses on shared goals, builds capacity and relationships, and addresses educational change." (p.188)	nt
17	Wilkinson, E. L., Lewthwaite, B. E., & McGinty, S. C. (2017). More than the power of two: sharing leadership for social justice in Australian schools with Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students.	Collaboratio n focused on Indigenous Education in Queensland , Australia.	"A mixed method, participatory action research multi-site	"Insights into the significance of the IEW/CEC role and the distinctive educational leadership relationship practice between IEWs/CECs and principals." (p.1)	#SocialJusti ce #Australia #Schools #Aboriginal #SharingLe adership

18	Ishimaru, A. M. (2017). From family engagement to equitable collaboration. Educational Policy, 33(2), 350-385.	Cross- sector project in the United States.	"A nested, comparative qualitative case study of three initiatives." (p.357)	"Parent capacity-building, relationship-building, and systemic capacity-building. The dynamics of implementation in the cross-sector collaborative constrained change and limit family engagement in practice and policy." (p.350)	#FamilyEng agement #Educationa IEquity #Cross- sectorCollab oration #ParentInvol vement #SchoolCo mmunityRel ations
19	Nelson, G. (2022). Combating chronic absenteeism: multitiered systems of support at the elementary level. In Improvement Science as a Tool for School Enhancement: Solutions for Better Educational Outcomes. Stylus Publishing, LLC, 67-79.	Evergreen Elementary	Report about an improvement project led by the author.	Equity-focused leadership needed to be the foundation of the work, with a team that is diverse and represented the population that serves. Seek	#Abstenteei sm #Multitiered Level #Elementary School
20	Gonzalez, L. (2022). Superintendents and School Boards Collaborate to Narrow Achievement Gaps: A Suburban New York Multisite Case Study. Journal for Leadership and Instruction, 21(2), 9-14.	New York Multisite Case Study.	"This qualitative study involved four case studies and made use of interviews, observations, and document review." (p.9)	"The data revealed that the challenges to closing achievement gaps were increasingly diverse student needs, stakeholders' deficit-thinking about students, lack of family engagement, and financial obstacles." (p.9)	#Achieveme nt #Gap #Collaborati on #School #NewYork #District